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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION SEC FORM 17-A 

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SECTION 141 OF THE CORPORATION 

CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES 

1. For the fiscal year ended 31 December 2024

2. SEC Identification Number CS 201739437

3. BIR Tax Identification No. 009-900-845-000

4. ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) – AKLAN INC.
(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center – Aklan Inc.)
Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter

5. Aklan, Philippines    6. Industry Classification Code: (SEC Use Only) 
Province, Country or other jurisdiction of incorporation 
or organization 

7. Judge Martelino Road, Barangay Andagao, Kalibo, Aklan 5600 
Address of principal office Postal Code 

8. +63 917-8146042 /+63 919-0963082
Issuer's telephone number, including area code

9. Not Applicable
Former name, former address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report.

10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the SRC, or Sec. 4 and 8 of the RSA

Title of Each Class Number of Shares of Common Stock 
Outstanding and Amount of Debt 

Outstanding 

Founders’ share 600 
Common share 214,460 

The total outstanding debt of the company as of December 31, 2024 is P 1,924,097,399. 

11. Are any or all of registrant's securities listed on a Stock Exchange?

Yes [  ] No [ /] 
If yes, state the name of such stock exchange and the classes of securities listed therein: NA 

12. Check whether the issuer:

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17.1 thereunder or
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Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 and 141 of The Corporation 
Code of the Philippines during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such shorter period that the 
registrant was required to file such reports); 

Yes [ / ] No [ ] 

(b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. Yes [ / ] No [ ]

13. State the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant.
The aggregate market value shall be computed by reference to the price at which the stock was sold, or
the average bid and asked prices of such stock, as of a specified date within sixty (60) days prior to the
date of filing. If a determination as to whether a particular person or entity is an affiliate cannot be made
without involving unreasonable effort and expense, the aggregate market value of the common stock
held by non- affiliates may be calculated on the basis of assumptions reasonable under the
circumstances, provided the assumptions are set forth in this Form. (See definition of "affiliate" in
“Annex B”).

   600 Founder Shares sold at Php 1,000.00 per share Php  600,000.00 
203,400 Common Shares sold at Php 1,000.00 per share Php   203,400,000.00 
11,060 shares at PhP 250,000.00 per block PhP   276,500,000.00 

TOTAL AGGREGATE MARKET VALUE Php 480,500,000.00 

1 block is equivalent to Ten (10) shares 

APPLICABLE ONLY TO ISSUERS INVOLVED IN INSOLVENCY/SUSPENSION OF 
PAYMENTS PROCEEDINGS 

DURING THE PRECEDING FIVE YEARS: 

14. Check whether the issuer has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 17 of
the Code subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court or the

Commission. 

Yes [ ] No [ ] [ / ] NOT APPLICABLE 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

15. Briefly described documents incorporated by reference and identify the part of SEC Form
17- A into which the document is incorporated:

(a) Audited Financial Statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024 (incorporated as
reference for items 7 and 12 of SEC Form 17-A
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ITEM I – BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

The issuer is ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER- AKLAN INC., also known as APMC-AI or “The Company”. It was duly 
organized and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on December 6, 2017 under 
SEC Registration No. CS 201739437. 

APMC-AI has an authorized capital stock of Two Hundred Forty Million Pesos (240,000,000.00) divided into Six 
Hundred (600) Founders’ Shares and Two Hundred Thirty- Nine Thousand Four Hundred (239,400) Common Shares 
both with a par value of One Thousand Pesos (Php1,000.00) per share. 

APMC-AI was established to maintain, operate, own, and manage hospitals, medical and related healthcare facilities 
and businesses such as, but without restriction to clinical laboratories, diagnostic centers, ambulatory clinics, condo 
hospitals, scientific research and other allied undertakings and services which shall provide medical, surgical, nursing, 
therapeutic, paramedic, or similar care, provided that purely professional, medical or surgical services shall be 
performed by duly qualified physicians or surgeons who may or may not be connected with the hospitals and whose 
services shall be freely and individually contracted by the patients. 

The construction of Asia Pacific Medical Center-Aklan commenced in November 2021. The initial capital was infused 
by the founders. To ensure the completion of the project, the company obtained a loan facility from the Development 
Bank of the Philippines. The Company also applied for a secondary license for the issuance of securities through an 
initial public offering. On 29 June 2021, SEC issued its Permit to offer Securities thru MSRD Order No. 36 Series of 2021 
as additional source of fund. On 23 October 2023, the Board of Investments issued a Certificate of Registration in favor 
of the Company as a Domestic Enterprise engaged in Private General Hospital Activities. 

As of December 31, 2024, the total percentage of completion of the construction of the hospital being constructed by 
APMC-Aklan is at 98.65% with accomplishments at 100% for Structural Works, 94.91% for Architectural Works and 
Interior Fit out, 96.40% for Plumbing Works, 93.62% for Fire Protection Works, 100% for Electrical Works, 100% for 
Electronics and Auxiliary Works, 98.97% for Mechanical Works, Perimeter Fence and Road Networks at 100%, 100% 
for Site Development and Auxiliary Structures, 99.80% for Medical Gases, 100% for Elevator and Escalator and 100% 
for Owner Supplied Material delivered and installed. The remaining works are expected to be completed in May 2025. 

Asia Pacific Medical Center- Aklan Inc. (formerly: Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center- Aklan Inc.) is a 7-storey 
216-bed capacity hospital with helipad and perimeter and basement parking that can accommodate 96 cars, 5
ambulances, 30 motorcycles. It is located at Judge Martelino Road, Andagao, Kalibo, Aklan with a total floor area of
33,5222.36 sq. meters constructed in a 9, 656 sq.m. It is presently operating with a 150-bed capacity but intends to
apply for an additional authorized bed capacity to provide services to residents of Kalibo, nearby barangays and
municipalities, the whole of Aklan and the neighboring provinces which are considered its catchment areas.

APMCI has not filed for bankruptcy, receivership nor had been a subject of similar proceedings. 
Neither has there been a material reclassification, merger, consolidation, or purchase or sale of a significant amount 
of its assets not in the ordinary course of business
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Principal Services 

The principal products and/or services offered by the Hospital are divided into Routine Services and Ancillary Services. 
The Routine Services include room and board, general nursing units, perioperative services, critical care and 
emergency services. Ancillary Services include dietetics, pharmacy, pathology and clinical laboratories, radiology, 
pulmonary and respiratory therapy, rehab medicine, heart station, neuroscience, audiology, eye center, hemodialysis 
center, oncology center, cardiac catheterization center, TB DOTS and Animal Bite center.  

APMCAI is a multidisciplinary specialty medical facility that houses medical specialists who are subscribers to the 
capital stock of the Corporation. The markets for its shares are mostly medical specialists and individuals who are 
related to medical specialists and corporate investors who  invested their money in the hospital. 

The act of purchasing the securities being offered does not automatically entitle such purchaser to practice his 
profession and use the facilities of Asia Pacific Medical Center – Aklan Inc., although it is a prerequisite. Physicians and 
medical specialists who are subscribers to at least one (1) block or ten (10) shares of the capital stock, whether 
Founders or Common Shares, and have paid in full may be allowed to practice. Such purchasers have to undergo the 
required screening process and must possess the minimum requirements as indicated in the Articles of Incorporation, 
By-Laws and Internal Rules of the Hospital. After successfully passing this process, the applicant shall then be entitled 
to the privileges offered by the Hospital. The privilege to practice in the Hospital is subject to restrictions, limitations, 
and obligations as maybe imposed by Asia Pacific Medical Center – Aklan Inc. pursuant to its rules and duly approved 
resolutions. Medical Specialists who have been granted the privilege to practice shall continuously possess the 
required qualifications and may be subjected to post-qualification assessment to ensure the quality of service 
provided by the hospital. 

Asia Pacific Medical Center – Aklan Inc. collects from each duly admitted medical specialist a one-time “privilege to 
practice” fee amounting to One Hundred Fifty Thousand Pesos (Php150,000.00) plus monthly fees for maintenance 
and utilities used for the Clinic.  

   BUSINESS OF THE ISSUER 

Level 2 Hospital 

Asia Pacific Medical Center – Aklan Inc. is a Level 2 Hospital. Under the Rules and Regulations Governing the New 
Classification of Hospitals and Other Health Facilities in the Philippines (Effective: August 18, 2012), the following 
are the minimum requirements for Level 2 Hospitals: 

A Level 2 Hospital shall have as minimum, all of Level l capacity 2 , including, but not limited to, the following: 

1. An organized staff of qualified and. competent personnel with Chief of Hospital/Medical Director and
appropriate board-certified Clinical Department Heads;

2. Departmentalized and equipped with the service capabilities needed to support board certified/eligible
medical specialists and other licensed physicians rendering services in the specialties of Medicine,
Pediatrics, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Surgery; their subspecialties and ancillary services;
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3. Provision for Intensive Care Units-- Medical ICU, Surgical ICU and Coronary Care Unit for critically ill patients.
4. Provision for PICU (Pediatric Intensive Care Unit) and NICU (Neonatal Intensive Care Unit)
5. Provision for HRPU (High Risk Pregnancy Unit)
6. Provision for respiratory therapy services;
7. A DOH licensed tertiary clinical laboratory;
8. A DOH licensed level 2 imaging facility with mobile x-ray inside the institution and with capability for

contrast examinations.

The Company commenced its operations On December 8, 2023, with a 100-bed capacity. On December 10, 2024, 
the Company was authorized to increase its bed capacity to 150 beds. Pursuant to its current License to Operate, it 
offers the following services: 

1. Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Unit
2. Hemodialysis Clinic (13 stations)
3. Satellite Pharmacy
4. Ambulatory Surgical Clinic (Colorectal, General, Ophthalmic, Orthopedic,
Otorhinolaryngologic, Pediatric, Plastic and Reconstructive, Reproductive Health, Thoracic,
and Urologic Surgery)

5. Diagnostic X-ray Services: (Level 3)
6. Specialized Diagnostic X-ray Services: (Computed Tomography, Mammography, Dental, and

Cardiac Catheterization)
7. TB IGRA Test

The Company intends to apply for a License to Operate for additional services  and bed capacity as soon as the 
hospital admissions exceed the current authorized bed capacity and resources are available.  
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   COMPETITION 

The issuer belongs to the industry which caters to the need of the public and medical specialists for hospital facilities. 
There are no recognized trends within such industry. The geographic area of competition is in Kalibo, Aklan wherein 
the following Hospitals are operating: 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
__________________ 

1A Level I hospital shall have as minimum the services stipulated under Rule V. B. 1. b. 1. of the Order, including, but not limited to, the 
following: 1. A staff of qualified medical, allied medical and administrative personnel headed by a physician duly licensed by PRC; 2. Bed space 
for its authorized bed capacity in accordance with DOH Guidelines in the Planning and Design of Hospitals; 3. An operating room with standard 
equipment and provision for sterilization of equipment and supplies in accordance with: a. DOH Reference Plan in the Planning and Design of 
an Operating Room/Theater (Annex A); b. DOH Guidelines on Cleaning, Disinfection and Sterilization of Reusable Medical Devices in Hospital 
Facilities in the Philippines (Annex B); 4. A post-operative recovery room; 5. Maternity facilities, consisting of ward(s), room(s),a delivery room, 
exclusively for maternity patients and newborns; 6. Isolation facilities with proper procedures for the care and control of infectious and 
communicable diseases as well as for the prevention of cross infections; 7. A separate dental section/clinic; 8. Provision for blood station;9. A 
DOH licensed secondary clinical laboratory with the services of a consulting pathologist;10. A DOH licensed level 1 imaging facility with the 
services of a consulting radiologist; 11.A DOH licensed pharmacy.

 
 

Name of Hospital Address Bed 
Capacity 

Category Level of 
classification 

Saint Gabriel Medical Center GM Reyes Street, 
Kalibo, Aklan 

120 Private 2 

Saint Jude Hospital F. Quimpo Street, 
Kalibo, Aklan 

25 Private 1 

Aklan Cooperative Mission 
Hospital 

Andagao, Kalibo Aklan 50 Private 1 

Panay Health Care MPC 
Hospital 

Estancia, Kalibo, Aklan 74 Private 2 

Dr. Rafael S. Tumbokon 
Memorial Hospital 

Mabini Street, Kalibo, Aklan 300 Public 2 
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The strategic2 location of Asia Pacific Medical Center-Aklan Inc. primarily influences the decision of the medical 
specialists to subscribe to the shares of stock in Asia Pacific Medical Center –Aklan Inc. Once the Doctor decides where 
to practice, price and quality of facility management come as the next factors. Good location, proximity to patients, 
reasonableness of the offer price and quality of the facilities enable Asia Pacific Medical Center-Aklan Inc. to effectively 
compete with its competitors within the area. 

APMC-AI is primarily owned and managed by doctor specialists who have established medical practice in the locality. 
This unique set up is a strong strategic factor of the hospital since each doctor-owner has established patient following 
in their respective fields. Furthermore, the roster of local medical practitioners who have signified their commitment 
to the hospital is very significant. 

The hospital also offers both preventive and medical treatment packages at a very competitive cost, if not lesser than 
the nearby hospital facilities, without compromising the quality of healthcare service it delivers to its patients. The 
hospital will also make sure that by following the policies of the Credentialing and Privileging Committee, the medical 
staff of APMC-Aklan Inc. are clinically competent and certified specialists. 

Aside from these, patients find a better ambiance with Asia Pacific Medical Center-Aklan Inc. due to its carefully 
planned, designed, constructed hospital building. Its advantage is not simply its newly built structure, but it also boasts 
of new facilities and equipment, plus the competency of its Medical Specialists.  

________________________ 
2Strategic Location - where population demographics are high because it is near or within the business district, close 
proximity to transportation terminals, church and gas stations. The area is very convenient for patients and their 
relatives in terms of the proximity of health service with other services within the locality. With this, patients prefer 
to be admitted in APMC-AI. Being in the right location is a key ingredient in the success of a business. Photo credits 
to google maps.

 

       

  APMC-
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APMCAI offers the latest technology and laboratory and imaging facilities such as MRI, CT scan, Mammogram, 
Echocardiography and Cardiac Catheter Laboratory . It aims to be a one-stop shop for laboratory and imaging services 
when it offers Bone Densitometry and Liver Elastometry soon. It also offers specialized services in Renal and Urology 
Center, High Risk Pregnancy and Infertility Unit, Endoscopy Center, Oncology and Transfusion Unit, Eye Center, Neuro 
Laboratory, Human Milk Bank and Lactation Center. Other specialized services such as the following 
will also be provided in the next few years, namely: 

  
● Sleep Center 
● Research Center  
● Metabolic and Aesthetic Center 

 
 

EMPLOYEES 

The Hospital is staffed with medical specialists who provide the normal work schedule and attract other specialists to 
practice in the Hospital. Below is the breakdown of the current manpower of APMC-AI. 

 

Type of Employees Number of Current 

Executive Officers 21 

Medical Support Staff 421 

Administrative Staff 257 

Engineering and Maintenance 16 

Outsourced 30 

TOTAL 745 

 
 

There is no expected increase of employees in the next twelve (12) months as the present number exceeds the present 
requirement of the hospital. There is no existing labor organization or union among the employees of APMC-AI. APMC-
AI employees have likewise not gone on strike or other concerted union action. APMC-AI adopts a performance-based 
compensation scheme for its employees. 
 
It cannot be determined whether additional employees will be hired for the succeeding but the same will be closely 
aligned with the Company’s actual and programmed growth.  
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MEDICAL SPECIALISTS  
 

Medical Specialists are Doctors who possess the minimum qualifications and are deemed fit to practice, upon 
recommendation by the Credentials Committee and approved by the Board and Management of Asia Pacific Medical 
Center- Aklan Inc. 

The admission to the Medical Staff roster of APMC-Aklan Inc. will be under the jurisdiction of the Credentialing and 
Privileging Committee. 

The Credentialing and Privileging Committee requires that the medical specialists of APMC- Aklan Inc. have updated 
professional licenses as practicing physicians from the Professional Regulation Commission (PRC) and Philippine 
Health Insurance Corporation (PHIC) 
 
 
 

They should have finished their training in the Accredited Specialty and Subspecialty Societies of their fields in the 
Philippines. Documentary requirements shall be submitted to the office of the Credentialing and Privileging Office 
upon application, and upon submission of the requirements, the committee will recommend to the Chief of Medical 
Services, the Executive Vice President, the Chief Executive Officer, and the BOD for final approval. 

Medical specialists may have the option to apply for a Privilege to Practice and enjoy a clinic space and time at APMC- 
Aklan Inc., or practice as regular visiting medical staff. Policies and procedures for acceptance to the medical Staff is 
stated in the Manual of Policies and Procedures of the Credentialing and Privileging. Review of the medical staff 
credentials is annually, and privileges review is every two years. 

Currently, Asia Pacific Medical Center- Aklan Inc. has a total of 132 Medical Specialists that will practice within the 
hospital. Within the next 12 months, it is expected that the Hospital will accept at least 50 more Medical Specialists. 

 

TRADEMARKS 

In 2020, the company’s corporate name was changed from Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center- Aklan Inc. to 
Asia Pacific Medical Center-Aklan Inc. with the approval by majority and two-thirds (2/3) votes of the directors and 
stockholders respectively. The amendment of the corporate name was precipitated by the change in its strategic 
direction along with two other partner hospitals, Asia Pacific Medical Center-Aklan and Asia Pacific Medical Center-
Iloilo to become an internationally recognized hospital as they plan to be accredited by the Joint Commission 
International which accreditation and certification is recognized as a global leader for quality of health care and patient 
safety. Subsequently, the company together with the abovementioned partner hospitals filed an application for 
registration of the trademark for the APMC logo before the Intellectual Property Office which was granted on 13 April 
2021 . The trademark aims to establish the brand Asia Pacific Medical Center as a leader in the healthcare industry. It 
filed a Declaration of Actual Use on 29 December 2022. 
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GOVERNMENT APPROVAL 
 

Asia Pacific Medical Center - Aklan Inc. has obtained the necessary government permits and certification to construct 
and operate the Hospital. The Company has complied with all annual renewals of other permits and licenses as of 31 
December 2024.  

EXISTING OR PROBABLE GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS ON THE BUSINESS 
 

The Company has no knowledge of recent or impending governmental regulations, the implementation of which will 
result in a material adverse effect on the company. However, various government agencies in the Philippines regulate 
the different aspects of the Company’s business. 

The following are the laws, rules and regulations relevant to the Company that are noteworthy: 

CREATE ACT 

Under Title XIII of RA 11534 otherwise known as the Corporate Income Tax and Incentive System, the Fiscal Incentives 
Review Board, or the Investment Promotion Agencies, under a delegated authority from the Fiscal Incentives Review 
Board shall grant the appropriate tax incentives to registered business enterprises to the extent of their approved 
registered project or activity under the Strategic Investment Priority Plan. Among the listed activities in the 2020 
Investment Priority Plan is the Health and Disaster Risk Reduction Management Services which cover the 
establishment and operation of general and specialty hospitals, and other medical and healthcare facilities including 
drug rehabilitation, quarantine and evacuation centers. As APMC Aklan is a general Level 2 hospital in Kalibo, Aklan, 
it is qualified to avail of the tax incentives and enhanced deductions once registered.   As mentioned above, it was 
granted a Certificate of Registration by the Philippine Board of Investments on 23 October 2023 as a Domestic Market 
Enterprise engaged in Private General Hospital Activities.  

 

THE OMNIBUS INVESTMENTS CODE OF 1987 

By virtue of the registration of the Company with the Board of Investments, it is entitled to tax incentives subject to 
the terms and conditions of its registration including but not limited to submission of reports.   

 

THE DATA PRIVACY ACT 

The Data Privacy Act together with its Implementing Rules and Regulations ensure the integrity and security of the 
personal data and information and impose certain requirements and obligations to entities involved in the processing 
of personal data. Since September 1, 2017, companies involved in the processing of personal data are required to 
appoint a Data Privacy Protection Officer and adopt a Personal Data Privacy Policy. The National Privacy Commission 
is tasked to administer and implement the provisions of the law and its rules and regulations. 

From the time when the Company started to process personal data—whether coming from investors, suppliers, 
employees and patients, the Company appointed DR. MAY URBANOZO- IGNACIO as Data Protection Officer. The 
Company has already formulated its own Personal Data Privacy Policy thru Board Resolution No. 2022-05-22-124. The 
policy provides for organizational, physical and technical security measures geared towards data protection. Similarly, 
it recognizes the rights of the data subject to information, access and rectification of his/her personal information 
among others. It also prepares the Company for the necessary procedure to be undertaken in the event of data 
breaches or security incidents. The policy further requires that all outsourcing arrangements of the group involving 
personal data collection be compliant with the requirements of the law. 
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THE UNIVERSAL HEALTH CARE ACT 

The Universal Health Care Act requires all private hospitals to provide at least ten percent (10%) of their bed capacity 
as a service/ ward accommodation and regularly submit a report on the allotment or percentage of their bed capacity 
to ward accommodations to the Department of Health (the “DOH”). It also automatically enrolls Filipino citizens into 
the National Health Insurance Program and expanded PhilHealth coverage to include free medical consultations and 
laboratory tests to guarantee equitable access to quality and affordable health care services for all Filipinos. 

Once the hospital operates, the Company will comply with the guidelines set by the DOH to implement law in so far 
as private hospitals are concerned. 
 

    THE FOOD SAFETY ACT of 2013 

This law was enacted to strengthen the food safety regulatory system in the country. This food safety regulatory 
system encompasses all the regulations, food safety standards, inspection, testing, data collection, monitoring and 
other activities carried out by the Department of Agriculture (the “DA”) and the DOH, their pertinent bureaus, and 
the local government units. 
 
 
 
 

The law intends to achieve a high level of food safety, protection of human life and health in the production and 
consumption of food, and the protection of consumer interests through fair practices in the food trade. The law 
provides that the DA and the DOH shall set the mandatory food safety standards, which shall be established on the 
basis of science, risk analysis, scientific advice from expert bodies, standards of other countries, existing Philippine 
National Standards and the standards of the Codex Alimentarius Commission, where these exist and are applicable. 

Under this law, the food business operators are required to adhere and follow rules with responsibilities to prevent, 
eliminate or reduce risks to consumers. They are further encouraged to implement a Hazard Analysis at Critical Control 
Points-based system for food safety assurance in their operations. 

Once the Hospital starts to operate, this law will regulate the operation of the commissary of the Hospital. 
 

ANTI HOSPITAL DEPOSIT LAW 

Republic Act No. 10932, otherwise known as the Anti-Hospital Deposit Law provides that “in emergency or serious 
cases, it shall be unlawful for any hospital or medical clinic to request, solicit, demand or accept any deposit or any 
other form of advance payment as prerequisite for administering basic emergency care, for confinement or medical 
treatment, or to refuse to administer medical treatment and support to any patient.” 

Under this new law, any official, medical practitioner or employee of the hospital or medical clinic who violates its 
provisions shall be punished by imprisonment of not less than six (6) months and one (1) day but not more than two 
(2) years and four (4) months, or a fine of not less than P100,000.00 but not more than P300,000.00 or both. Higher 
penalties of imprisonment of four (4) to six (6) years, or a fine of not less than P500,000.00 but not more than One 
Million Pesos, or both, are imposed upon directors or officers of hospitals or clinics responsible for the formulation 
and implementation of policies or instructions violative of the said Act. Three (3) repeated violations, shall result in 
the revocation of the health facility’s license to operate by the Department of Health (DOH). Further, a presumption 
of liability shall arise against the hospital, medical clinic, and the official, medical practitioner, or employee involved 
in the event of death, permanent disability, serious impairment of the health condition of the patient-complainant or 
in the case of a pregnant woman, permanent injury or loss of her unborn child as a result of the denial of his or her 
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admission to the health facility. 

Under this law, the Philippine Health Insurance Corporation (PhilHealth) will reimburse the hospital or clinic for the 
cost of basic emergency care and transportation services given to poor and indigent patients and the Philippine Charity 
Sweepstakes Office (PCSO) will also provide medical assistance for the basic emergency care needs of poor and 
marginalized groups. To ensue compliance without jeopardizing the company’s finances, its BOD will formulate 
policies to ensure efficient collection from the aforementioned agencies. 

THE FOODS, DRUGS AND DEVICES, AND COSMETICS ACT 

The Foods, Drugs and Devices, and Cosmetics Act as amended by the Food and Drug Authority (FDA) Act of 2009 
establishes standards and quality measures in relation to the distribution of health products which include 
pharmaceutical products sold within the hospital to ensure the safe supply thereof to and within the Philippines. The 
FDA is the governmental agency attached to the DOH tasked to implement and enforce the FDDC Act. 

This act will regulate the operation of the hospital pharmacy. 
 
RA 9439 

The purpose of the enactment of RA 9439 to law is to prohibit the detention of patients and medical clinics on grounds 
of nonpayment of hospital bills or medical expenses. 

The law provides that patients who have fully or partially recovered and who already wish to leave the hospital or 
medical clinic but are financially incapable to settle, in part or in full, their hospitalization expenses, including 
professional fees and medicines, shall be allowed to leave the hospital or medical clinic, with a right to demand 
issuance of the corresponding medical certificate and other pertinent papers required for the release of the patient 
from the hospital or medical clinic upon the execution of a promissory note covering the unpaid obligation. The 
promissory note shall be secured by either a mortgage or by a guarantee of a co-worker, who will be jointly and 
severally liable with the patient for the unpaid obligation. In the case of a deceased patient, the corresponding death 
certificate and other documents required for interment and other purposes shall be released to any of his/her 
surviving relatives requesting for the said document. Patients who stayed in private rooms are not covered by this 
law. 
 
 

COVID 19 LAWS AND OTHER POLICIES 

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared a pandemic of the Corona Virus Disease 2019 
(COVID-19). Thereafter, Presidential Proclamation NO. 929 s.2020 was issued declaring a State of Calamity throughout 
the Philippines due to the increasing number of Filipinos infected with the virus. To address the pandemic, various 
laws were enacted by the Congress of the Philippines and various rules, regulations and circulars were issued by the 
Department of Health one of which is as follows: 
 

DEPARTMENT CIRCULAR NO. 2022-0108 

Under this Circular, all public and private hospitals were instructed to comply with PHILHEALTH CIRCULAR No. 2022-
0003 which provides for Benefit Packages for Inpatient Management of Confirmed Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) 
and Clarification of Probable Cases. 
 

ENVIRONMENT-RELATED LAWS 

The Philippine Clean Air Act of 1999 and its implementing rules and regulations states that before any business may 
be allowed to operate facilities and equipment which emit regulated air pollutants, the establishment must first 
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acquire a Permit to Operate Air Pollution Source and Control Installations. The Environmental Management Bureau 
(EMB) is responsible for issuing permits to operate air pollution source and control installations as well as monitoring 
and inspection of the facilities of the grantee of the permit. 

The Philippine Clean Water Act of 2004 and its implementing rules and regulations provides for the requirement to 
secure a wastewater discharge permit, which authorizes the discharge of liquid waste and/or pollutants of specified 
concentration and volume from plants and facilities into any water or land resource for a specified period of time. The 
Environmental Management Bureau (EMB) of the Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR) is 
responsible for issuing discharge permits and monitoring and inspection of the facilities of the grantee of the permit. 

The Solid Waste Management Act of 2000, with DENR Administrative Order 2011-34 as its implementing rules and 
regulations, sets the guidelines for solid waste reduction through sound reduction and waste minimization, including 
composting, recycling, re-use, recovery before collection, treatment and disposal in appropriate and environmentally 
sound solid waste management facilities in accordance with ecologically sustainable principles. 

The Toxic Substances and Hazardous and Nuclear Wastes Control Act of 1990 and its implementing rules and 
regulations, as well as DENR Administrative Orders 2013-25 and 2013-22, aim to regulate the management of ozone-
depleting chemical substances and hazardous wastes generated by various establishments. 

TAXATION 

With regard to taxation and other charges, the Corporation is subject to the National Internal Revenue Code of 1997 
(NIRC), as amended by the Republic Act No. 9334 and further amended by the Republic Act No. 10351. In the course 
of its business operations, the Company is subject to income tax and documentary stamp taxes. 

SENIOR CITIZENS ACT 

Under Republic Act No. 7432, otherwise known as the “Senior Citizens Act”, senior citizens are granted a 20% discount 
on goods and services, including medical and dental services in private facilities as well as diagnostic laboratory fees 
(X-rays, computerized topography scans and blood tests) and professional fees of attending doctors in all private 
hospitals and medical facilities. The law applies also to purchases from drug stores, hospital pharmacies and similar 
establishments dispensing medicines. The law will allow the deduction of the Senior Citizen discount to be extended 
by APMCBI from gross revenues during the same taxable year. In 2010, RA No. 7432 was further amended by RA. No. 
9994, or the “Expanded Senior Citizens Act” which granted senior citizens additional privileges, such as exemption 
from the 12% expanded value-added tax (EVAT). The EVAT exemption for senior citizen applies to, among others, 
purchases of medicines and essential medical supplies. RA No. 9994 provides for the sharing of the burden between 
the Hospital and the manufacturer/distributor/supplier which will help the hospital to manage its exposures. 

MAGNA CARTA FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITY 

The law provides persons with disability with at least twenty percent (20%) discount and exemption from the value 
added tax on the sale of certain goods such as drugs and medicines and foods for special medical purposes and services 
for their exclusive use and benefit including medical and dental services such as diagnostic and laboratory fees in 
government facilities or private hospitals and medical facilities. 

Establishments are required to place signage in conspicuous places within their premises to inform persons with 
disabilities that they are entitled to the aforementioned discount and exemption. 
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MAXIMUM RETAIL PRICES FOR DRUGS AND MEDICINES 
 
On July 27, 2009, Executive Order No. 821 was signed, prescribing the maximum retail prices for selected drugs and 
medicines. The EO took effect on 15 August 2009. The implementation of the said EO will have the effect of reducing 
the Hospital’s revenues. However, with cost reduction strategies, APMCBI is expected to maintain its margins. 
 
In February 2020, EO No. 104 or Improving Access to Healthcare Through the Regulation of Prices in the Retail of Drugs 
and Medicines was signed. The EO regulates the prices, through a maximum retail price (MRP), a maximum wholesale 
price, (MWP) or both of at least 86 drugs molecules or 133 drug formulas selected based on a set of criteria. 
 
In April 2021, the Department of Health issued the “Updated Suggested Retail Price (SRPs) for Essential Emergency 
Medicines and Medical Devices due to the Corona Virus disease 2019 (COVID-19) Health Event”. 

 
 
EXPANDED MATERNITY ACT 
 
In May 2019, the Implementing Rules and Regulations (IRR) for RA 11210 or the Expanded Maternity Leave Law was 
enacted. Under the law, both government and private employers are required to give female workers 105 days paid 
maternity leave with an option to extend for an additional 30 days without pay. It applies to every instance of 
pregnancy, and employers are required to grant it regardless of the mode of delivery, civil status, legitimacy of the 
child and employment status. However, for cases of miscarriage or emergency termination of pregnancy, 60 days 
maternity leave with full pay shall be granted. 
 
NATIONAL INTEGRATED CANCER CONTROL LAW 
 
In August 2019, the IRR for RA No. 11215 or National Integrated Cancer Control Law was signed by the Department of 
Health. The IRR provides for the mechanisms by which cancer prevention, screening, diagnosis, treatment and care 
can be more equitable, affordable and accessible for all, especially the underprivileged, poor and marginalized Filipino. 

A periodic review of the Company’s operating margins is being undertaken to ensure that the Company will not suffer 
any significant financial burden as a result of the foregoing laws and regulations.  

 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT  

The Company spent zero amount for research and development activities in 2024, 2023 and 2022.   

 
 
COST AND EFFECTS OF COMPLIANCE WITH ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS 
 
Reports on the hospital’s compliance with waste disposal are being submitted quarterly since the treatment and 
disposal of the Hospital’s waste is still the responsibility of the Company.   
 

The Company incurred around Twenty-One Thousand Pesos (PHP 21,000.00) in expenses for environmental 
compliance for the year 2024. On an annual basis, operating expenses incurred by the Company to comply with 
environment laws are not significant or material relative to the Company and its total cost and revenues. 
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EMPLOYEES 

As of 31 December 2024, the Company has a total of 745 personnel with 21 in management and 694 as rank and file, 
and 30 being contractual.  

There is no existing labor organization or union among the employees of the Company and there was no employee 
strike for the past years. The Company has adopted a performance-based compensation scheme for its employees.  

It cannot be determined whether additional employees will be hired for the succeeding but the same will be closely 
aligned with the Company’s actual and programmed growth.   

 

MAJOR RISKS 

The following are the identified risks in the operation of the hospital of the Company: 

1. OPERATIONAL RISKS 
 

The healthcare business is primarily concerned with the delivery of care that is effective, efficient, safe, timely 
and patient-centered to diverse populations. Operational risks may result from inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people, or systems that affect business operations. Included are risks related to adverse event 
management, credentialing and staffing, documentation, chain of command and deviation from practice. 

 
To address the risk, the Company engaged consultants that could assist in establishing an internal process 
that would ensure efficient delivery of service. 

 
2. CLINICAL PATIENT SAFETY 

 
It is the risk associated with the delivery of care to residents, patients, and other healthcare customers. 
Included under this clinical risks are the following: failure to follow evidence-based practice, medication 
errors, hospital-acquired conditions (HAC), serious safety events and others. 
Addressing such risk entails the Company to follow the standards set by the Joint Commission International 
(JCI) for patient safety and eventually apply for accreditation with JCI. A Policy on Incident Reporting and 
Sentinel Event Reporting has been formulated by APMCAI to ensure appropriate and timely reporting of 
these occurrences. 

 

The Policy will state the action plan and the responsibilities of all concerned personnel and the activities 
involved in incident and sentinel event reporting. 

 
The Policy will outline the manner of reporting, the timeliness of reporting and the specific persons to whom 
the report should be made. 

 
3. STRATEGIC RISKS 

 
These are risks associated with the focus and direction of the organization. The rapid pace of change creates 
unpredictability thus risks within the strategic domain are associated with brand reputation, competition, 
failure to adapt to changing times, health reform or customer priorities. Managed care relationships/ 
partnerships, conflict of interest, marketing and sales, media relations, mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, 
joint ventures, affiliations, and other business arrangements, contract administration, and advertising are 
other areas generally considered as potential strategic risks. 
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Managing such risks, the Corporation through the Board of Directors shall engage the service of a Risk 
Manager as soon as practicable. 

4. FINANCIAL RISKS

This domain is mainly comprised by decisions affecting the financial sustainability of the organization, access
to capital or the timing and recognition of revenue and expenses. The following are the risk included: cost
associated with malpractice, litigation, and insurance, capital structure, credit and interest rate fluctuations,
foreign exchange, growth in programs and facilities, capital equipment, corporate compliance (fraud and
abuse), accounts receivable, days of cash on hand, capitation contracts, billing and collection.
The Company had secured a Bank Loan to sustain its pre-operation expenses.

5. HUMAN CAPITAL RISKS

This is an important issue in today’s tight labor and economic markets especially with the current brain-drain
of healthcare workers. Among others, risks included are as follows: employee selection, retention, turnover,
staffing, absenteeism, on-the-job work- related injuries (workers’ compensation), work schedules and
fatigue, productivity and compensation. Human capital associated risks may also cover recruitment,
retention and termination of members of the medical and allied health staff.

The Company aims to attract health workers to employ in the hospital by enticing and providing them with
Non-monetary Stock Benefit to its employees.

6. LEGAL/REGULATORY RISKS

The risks within this domain incorporates the failure to identify, manage and monitor legal, regulatory, and
statutory mandates.

These risks will be addressed with the Company having and maintaining strong Compliance System.

7. TECHNOLOGY RISKS

This domain covers machines, hardware equipment, devices and tools, but can also include techniques,
systems and methods of organization. Healthcare has seen an explosion in the use of technology for clinical
diagnosis and treatment, training and education, information storage and retrieval, and asset preservation.
Examples are the following: Hospital Information System, Social networking and cyber liability.

The Company intends to engage suppliers that would provide the highly advanced medical equipment and
hospital information system to the company.

ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES 

Asia Pacific Medical Center – Aklan Inc. hospital is fully operational providing comprehensive healthcare services to 
the community of Kalibo, Aklan and surrounding areas.  Situated at its established location on Judge Martelino Road 
in Barangay Andagao, Kalibo, the hospital occupies a prime property spanning 9,656 square meters. Its impressive 
infrastructure includes a 7-storey building equipped with modern facilities, boasting a total floor area of 33,522.36 

Page 16 of 123



square meters. It will also serve as a Referral Center for Asia Pacific Medical Center (APMC) institutions in other parts 
of the country which APMC-Aklan Inc. has entered into a Memorandum of Agreement. 

The property is covered by Transfer Certificate of Title Nos. 087-2018001229 and 087- 2018001230 and Tax 
Declaration Nos. 17-01-002-07280 and 17-01-002-07281 registered in the name of Asia Pacific Medical Center (APMC) 
- Aklan Inc. The said property was used as collateral for a Real Estate Mortgage with the Development Bank of the
Philippines. The first tranche of the said loan amounting to Php 195,000,000.00 was released on November 2021,
followed by the second tranche of the said loan amounting to Php 390,000,000.00 released on June 21, 2022. Another
loan was granted in November of 2023 amounting to P 696,400,696.

The land described above is recorded in the books of the company at Ninety-Four Million Ninety-Six Thousand Four 
Hundred Eighty-Five Pesos P 94,096,485.00. Aside from land, the other properties acquired and owned by the 
company are as follows: 

Since 2019 until December 31, 2024 the corporation has acquired office and medical equipment composed of desktop 
and laptop computers, printers, steel cabinets, office furniture, machineries, kitchen, computerization and 
transportation equipment amounting to Php 487,801,573.00 net of depreciation.         

As of December 31, 2023, APMC Aklan has paid as partial payment a total of Php Sixty Seven Million Five Hundred 
Forty Six Thousand Three Hundred Twenty (PhP 67,546,320.00) for medical and other equipment which was 
categorized under advances to suppliers in the balance sheet. These are generator sets, elevators, escalators, 
plumbing fixtures, wood and metal doors, electrical equipment and medical equipment.

1. Medtronic Midas Rex and Electric Drill

2. Macrobial ID System (BacT/ALERT)

3. Automated ID/AST (VITEK 2 cOMPACT 15)
4. Electrical Equipment
5. Point of Sale (POS)
6. Digital Mobile X-Ray Machine

As of December 31, 2024, the total properties and Equipment owned by the company reflected a balance of One 
Billion Nine Hundred Twenty-Six Million, Three Hundred Eleven Thousand and Fifty (P1,926,311,050.00) net of 
depreciation and broken down as follows: 

Land - 94,096,485 

Hospital Building - 941,959,926 

Construction in Progress - 402,453,066 

Office Equipment, Furniture and Fixtures - 68,784,857 

Machineries, Tools and Equipment 
Transportation Equipment 
Computerization Cost         

- 409,591,611 
3,990,054 
5,435,051 
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SUPPLIERS AND MAJOR CONTRACTORS 
 

 The Company’s primary suppliers of medicines are, medical supplies and medical equipment are as follows:   
 

1. Allmed Instruments Medical System, Inc. 
2. Siemens Healthcare Inc, 
3. MTC Opto Medic, Inc. 
4. Endure Medical, Inc. 
5. Fairbright Enterprises Inc.  

 
 

 
PATIENTS 
The Company is not dependent on any single or few patients within the locality. It is widely spread among locals and 
foreigners in Kalibo and other nearby towns and cities within the provinces of Aklan and Antique.  

 
TRANSACTIONS WITH AND/OR DEPENDENCE ON RELATED PARTIES 
 

The Company, in the normal course of business, has entered into transactions with related parties principally 
consisting of: 
 

Advances from Shareholders 
 

This account represents advances made by its shareholders in support of the Company’s building 
construction requirements. These advances are non-interest bearing and to be paid subject to availability of 
funds and/or the Board may decide to convert said advances to equity in the distant future. Advances from 
shareholders amounted to P284,394,349 as of December 31, 2024. 

The Company also entered into a Memorandum of Agreement for the granting of discounts to its 
stockholders with the following hospitals and vice versa:  

1. Asia Pacific Medical Center- Bacolod, Inc.  

2. Asia Pacific Medical Center – Iloilo Inc.  

The agreement ensures that individual stockholders and their dependents hospitalization and out patient 
care at APMC Admitting Hospitals. Eligible Parties, including the principal shareholder, their family, and 
natural parents, can access at affiliated medical facilities. Furthermore, medical stockholders may 
collaborate in admitting and managing patients at APMC Admitting Hospitals, subject to credentialing 
policies. 
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS OF COMPANY, ITS SUBSIDIARIES AND/OR AFFILIATES 
 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

APMC-AI is not a party to, and its properties are not the subject of, any material pending legal proceeding that 
could be expected to have a material adverse effect on the APMC-AI’s financial performance. 

 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
 
 There were no matters submitted to the vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year 
covered by this report. The annual meeting of the Stockholders of the Company was held On 14 June 2024. The 
results of the Annual Meeting was duly submitted to the SEC in the corresponding General Information Sheet and 
SEC Form 17-C dated 19 June 2024.  

 
 

PART II – OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

Item 5. Market Price on of and Dividends in Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters. 
 

A. Market Information 
 

Management believes that the strategic location of the Hospital, the facilities and the services it will provide, 
and the people behind the Hospital, are sufficient to entice medical specialists and prospective investors to 
consider the offer. 
 
Asia Pacific Medical Center- Aklan Inc. is offering 3,600 blocks of common shares in tranches, through a 
series of offerings at an offer price in progressive amounts. The shares are not listed in the exchange and 
offered over-the-counter. 

 
The staggered Offer Price per series of shares for sale to the public was arrived at by considering several 
factors including but not limited to: the timing of purchase relative to the completion of the Hospital and its 
facilities, the number of applicants the Hospital could serve and accommodate, the total development costs 
based on cost assessments of the engineers, architects and other professionals hired for the project, 
comparable price of similarly situated structure with similar facilities, market demand, risk undertaken by 
the original stockholders, the exclusive and premium nature of the Hospital and its intended patients and 
the acceptability of the pricing strategy to the current market. 

 
The breakdown of the Offer Price is presented as follows: 

 
Series Number of Blocks Maximum Proposed 

Of Common Share Selling Price per block 
 

1st 1,942 blocks Php 250,000per block 
2nd 1,200 blocks Php 300,000 per block 
3rd 400 blocks Php 350,000 per block 
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The first 1,048 blocks had been sold at the price of Php 250,000.00 per block by the third quarter of 2021 
until August of 2022. The 2nd and 3rd series will never be offered until the 1st series had been sold out. The 
offered shares are not listed in the Exchange and are issued over the counter only, through the Company’s 
employees acting a salesperson as reflected in its Registration Statement. The percentage of public 
ownership of the Company as of December 31, 2024 is 5.15%. 

  
The 3600 blocks that were offered to the public are sold primarily to Medical Specialists who possess the 
minimum qualifications and are deemed fit to practice, upon recommendation by the credentials Committee 
and approved by the Board and Management of APMC- Aklan Inc. Other purchasers are non-medical 
specialists who are related to medical specialists and those who purchased the shares purely for investment 
purposes. 

B. Holders 

There are 39 holders of Founder shares and 1063 holders of common shares of the company as of 
31 December 2024. 

The following are the Top 20 shareholders of the Company: 
 

  No                      Name Class of Securities Number of Shares Held  
% 

1 Simeon A. Arce, Jr.  Founder 
Common 

140 
47,460 

22.13% 

2 Brandt Luke Q. Biron Founder 
Common 

10 
15,390 

7.16% 

3 Ferjenel G. Biron Founder 
Common 

80 
10,120 

4.74% 

4 Patrick Dexter M. Buenaflor Founder 
Common 

30 
10,170 

4.74% 

5 Claire B. Perez Founder 
Common 

30 
10,170 

4.74% 

6 Maribel J. Arce Founder 
Common 

20 
6,780 

3.16% 

7 Regina R. Buenaflor Founder 
Common 

20 
6,780 

3.16% 

8 Meride Daulo-Lavilla Founder 
Common 

10 
6,790 

3.16% 

Page 20 of 123



9 Jessore I. Isidro Founder 
Common 

20 
6,780 

3.16% 

10 Braeden John Q. Biron Founder 
Common 

10 
4,190 

1.95% 

11 Bryant Paul Q. Biron Founder 
Common 

10 
4,190 

1.95% 

12 Joanne B. Abril Founder 
Common 

10 
3,390 

1.58% 

13 Gregory Joseph Ryan A. Ardeña Founder 
Common 

10 
3,390 

1.58% 

14 Delphine Joanne C. Quintana-
Bartolome 

Founder 
Common 

10 
3,390 

1.58% 

15 Marsha Lourdes P. Conanan-
Morato 

Founder 
Common 

10 
3,390 

1.58% 

16 Marymil B. Dignadice Founder 
Common 

10 
3,390 

1.58% 

17 Eileen May B. Debuque Founder 
Common 

10 
3,390 

1.58% 

18 Nikki James C. Francisco Founder 
Common 

10 
3,390 

1.58% 

19 Mary Karen Veronica R. Icamina Founder 
Common 

10 
3,390 

1.58% 

20 Peter Myron Jun O. Torres Founder 
Common 

10 
3,390 

1.58% 

 

C. Dividends 
 

Dividends declared by the Company on its shares of stocks are payable in cash or in additional shares 
of stocks. The payment of dividends in the future will depend upon the earnings, cash flow, and 
financial condition of the Company and other factors. 

 
Cash dividends are subject to approval by the Company’s Board but no stockholder approval is 
required. Property dividends which may come in the form of additional shares of stocks are subject 
to approval by both the Company’s Board of Directors and the Company’s stockholders. The SEC 
must also approve the payment of stock dividends. 
 
As of 31 December 2024, no dividends have been issued by the Company due to the unavailability 
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of unrestricted retained earnings.  
 
 

D. Recent Sale of Unregistered or Exempt Securities, Including Recent Issuance of Securities 
Constituting an Exempt Transaction. 

There is no recent sale of unregistered or exempt securities as all of the Two Hundred Forty 
Thousand shares (240,000) of the Company are registered securities. 

 
 

Item 6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation 
 

1. Plan of Operation 

The operation of the Hospital officially commenced last December 8, 2023. 

The financial requirements of the corporation during the next twelve (12) months stem from few minor 
interior and exterior finishes and touch ups, procurement of additional hospital equipment and training 
and/or continuing education for the Board of Directors, Management,  medical and paramedical staff and 
other employees, salaries, benefits and wages and other costs of operation.  

The current financial position depends on the infusion of capital from the remaining shares from IPO and the 
loan facility granted by Development Bank of the Philippines. Due to the rising costs associated with running 
the operation ,the Company  must maximize all means to market and sell offered shares to the public. Aside 
from the active selling of shares, the Company will use social media to encourage the public to invest in the 
hospital without prejudice to compliance with the provisions of the Securities and Regulation Commission 
regarding the marketing of the said shares.    

 

As of December 2024, the Company has Seven Hundred Forty-five (745) employees and the Company has no 
plans to hire additional employees within the next 12 months, unless deemed necessary. 

2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements and the related notes. The financial statements, and the financial information below, have been 
prepared in accordance with the Philippine FInancial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  
 
Below are the financial highlights of the Company’s operation for the years ended December 31 2024, 2023 
and 2022 and financial position as of December 31 2024, 2023 and 2022.   
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Results of Operations December 31, 2024 vs December 31, 2023 

Horizontal Analysis Vertical Analysis 

December 31, 
2024 (Audited) 

December 31, 
2023 

(Audited) 
Inc.(Dec.) % 

December 
31, 2024 
(Audited) 

December 
31, 2023 
(Audited) 

GROSS REVENUES ₱780,354,111 ₱9,623,184 ₱770,730,927 8009% 100% 100% 
DISCOUNTS AND FREE 
SERVICES 

-₱111,322,951 -₱211,533 -₱111,111,418 52527% -14% -2%

NET REVENUES ₱669,031,160 ₱9,411,651 ₱659,619,509 7009% 86% 98% 
COST OF SERVICES -₱495,527,057 -₱26,911,718 -₱468,615,339 1741% -64% -280%
GROSS PROFIT (LOSS) ₱173,504,103 -₱17,500,067 ₱191,004,170 -1091% 22% -182%
GENERAL AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

-₱153,760,156 -
₱119,818,535 

-₱33,941,621 28% -20% -1245%

OTHER INCOME ₱6,508,831 ₱311,577 ₱6,197,254 1989% 1% 3% 
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS ₱26,252,778 -

₱137,007,025 
₱163,259,803 -119% 3% -1424%

FINANCE COSTS -₱27,815,643 -₱17,414,705 -₱10,400,938 60% -4% -181%
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX -₱1,562,865 -

₱154,421,730 
₱152,858,865 -99% -0.20% -1605%

PROVISION FOR INCOME 
TAX (Notes 2 and 21) 

₱128,502 ₱128,502 0.02% 

NET LOSS -₱1,691,367 -
₱154,421,730 

₱152,730,363 -99% -0.22% -1605%

LOSS PER SHARE ₱(7.86) ₱(718.04) (710.18) -99% 0% 0% 

Revenue 

As of December 31, 2024, Asia Pacific Medical Center (APMC) – Aklan Inc. reported gross revenues amounting to 
₱780,354,111, a significant increase from the ₱9,623,184 reported in 2023. This sharp rise is attributed to the 
hospital's first full year of operations following its commencement on December 8, 2023. The growth reflects 
expanded service offerings and increased patient volume across in-patient, out-patient, pharmacy, leasing, and 
canteen services. 

General and Administrative Expenses 

As of December 31, 2024, Asia Pacific Medical Center (APMC) – Aklan Inc. incurred total general and 
administrative expenses amounting to ₱153,884,492, reflecting a 28.43% increase from ₱119,818,535 in 2023. 
The rise was primarily driven by higher depreciation expenses (₱39,230,782) due to the full-year effect of asset 
utilization, significant increases in professional fees and utilities, and the hospital’s expanded operations. 
Notable variances include a decrease in salaries and wages by 45.23% and a 100% drop in rent expenses, 
alongside substantial growth in categories such as office supplies, outside services, and miscellaneous 
expenses, reflecting the hospital’s operational adjustments during its first full year of service. 
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For the Year Ended     
 31-Dec24 31-Dec23 Inc./(Dec.) % 
Salaries and wages 42,773,051 78,096,823 -35,323,772 -45.23% 
Depreciation 39,230,782 1,336,686 37,894,096 2834.93% 
Utilities 24,912,210 8,428,131 16,484,079 195.58% 
Professional fees 18,345,097 1,213,582 17,131,515 1411.65% 
SSS/PHIC/HDMF contributions 9,233,780 7,545,708 1,688,072 22.37% 
Outside services 4,334,804 1,171,847 3,162,957 269.91% 
Honorarium 3,362,000 1,461,000 1,901,000 130.12% 
Taxes and licenses 2,811,933 10,346,173 -7,534,240 -72.82% 
Office supplies 2,621,836 43,704 2,578,132 5899.08% 
Insurance 1,001,601 1,551,974 -550,373 -35.46% 
Trainings and seminars 774,694 3,135,027 -2,360,333 -75.29% 
Fuel and oil 741,195 1,797,826 -1,056,631 -58.77% 
Representation 376,493 218,522 157,971 72.29% 
Meetings and conferences 281,524 1,392,225 -1,110,701 -79.78% 
Subscription 278,997 317,022 -38,025 -11.99% 
Repairs and maintenance 277,063 68,423 208,640 304.93% 
Advertising 170,664 637,850 -467,186 -73.24% 
Transportation and travel 97,641 306,297 -208,656 -68.12% 
Rent 0.00 180,000 (180,000.00) -100.00% 
Donation 0.00 0 0.00  
Miscellaneous 2,259,127 569,715 1,689,412 296.54% 
Total General and Administrative 
Expenses for the Year 153,884,492 119,818,535 34,065,957 28.43% 

 

Financial Condition (December 31, 2024 vs December 31, 2023) 

Assets 

As of December 31, 2024, the total assets of Asia Pacific Medical Center (APMC) – Aklan Inc. increased by 11%, 
reaching ₱2,148,592,919 from ₱1,940,337,182 in the previous year. This growth was primarily driven by a significant 
increase in receivables, which rose by ₱90,123,277 or 3,392% compared to 2023, reflecting improved billing and 
collection efforts as the hospital expanded its operations. 
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Liabilities 

 
As of December 31, 2024, the company’s total liabilities increased by 12% from the previous year, reaching ₱1.92 
billion. The increase was driven by higher non-current loans and advances from shareholders, reflecting a strategic 
reliance on long-term financing and internal support. Current liabilities also rose by 12%, with significant increases in 
accounts payable and shareholder advances, indicating expansion activities and deferred payments. 

 
 

Equity 
 

As of December 31, 2024, total equity amounted to ₱224.50 million, reflecting a 3% increase from the previous year. 
This growth was mainly attributed to the additional paid-in capital of ₱7.57 million. However, the company continues 
to carry a deficit, which slightly increased by 1% to ₱226.99 million, impacting overall equity levels.  

 
FINANCIAL CONDITION (2024, 2023, 2022) 
 
 
 For the Years Ended Horizontal Analysis Vertical Analysis 
ASSETS 2024 2023 2022 2024-2023 2023-2022 2023 2022 2021 
    Inc (Dec) % Inc (Dec) %    

CURRENT ASSETS           

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 63,113,477 68,015,190 59,719,045 (4,901,713) -7% 8,296,145 14% 3% 4% 6% 

Receivables 92,779,952 2,656,675 48,000 90,123,277 3392% 2,608,675 543
5% 4% 0% 0% 

Inventories 19,089,796 16,608,851  2,480,945 15% 16,608,851  1% 1% 0% 
Advances to 
Contractors 30,038,406 172,873,12

3 
109,697,40

9 
(142,834,717

) -83% 63,175,714 58% 1% 9% 11% 

Prepayments and 
other current 
assets 

14,742,924 72,151,887 42,025,353 (57,408,963) -80% 30,126,534 72% 1% 4% 4% 

 219,764,55
5 

332,305,72
6 

211,489,80
7 

(112,541,171
) -34% 120,815,919 57% 10% 17% 21% 

NON-CURRENT 
ASSETS           

Property and 
Equipment 

1,926,311,0
50 

1,605,514,1
42 

796,944,84
2 320,796,908 20% 808,569,300 101

% 90% 83% 79% 

Deposits 2,517,314 2,517,314  0 0% 2,517,314  0% 0% 0% 

 1,928,828,3
64 

1,608,031,4
56 

796,944,84
2 320,796,908 20% 811,086,614 58% 90% 83% 79% 

        0% 0% 0% 

TOTAL ASSETS 2,148,592,9
19 

1,940,337,1
82 

1,008,434,6
49 208,255,737 11% 931,902,533 92% 100

% 100% 100% 

           
LIABILITIES AND 
EQUITY           
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CURRENT 
LIABILITIES           

Accounts Payable 148,270,10
0 

138,755,31
5 4,676,098 9,514,785 7% 134,079,217 286

7% 7% 7% 0.46% 

Retention Payable 50,032,254 58,059,427 37,368,844 (8,027,173) -14% 20,690,583 55% 2% 3% 4% 

Advances from 
Shareholders 

284,394,34
9 

186,506,35
7 36,993,090 97,887,992 52% 149,513,267 404

% 13% 10% 4% 

Loans Payable - 
current 41,068,815 84,616,725 0 (43,547,910) -51% 84,616,725  2% 4% 0% 

 523,765,51
8 

467,937,82
4 79,038,032 55,827,694 12% 388,899,792 492

% 24% 24% 8% 

NON-CURRENT 
LIABILITIES           

Loans Payable - 
non current 

1,400,331,8
81 

1,253,783,9
71 

585,000,00
0 146,547,910 12% 668,783,971 114

% 65% 65% 58% 

 1,400,331,8
81 

1,253,783,9
71 

585,000,00
0 146,547,910 12% 668,783,971 114

% 65% 65% 58% 

           

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,924,097,3
99 

1,721,721,7
95 

664,038,03
2 202,375,604 12% 1,057,683,7

63 
159
% 90% 89% 66% 

           
EQUITY           

Share Capital 215,060,00
0 

215,060,00
0 

215,060,00
0 0 0% 0 0% 10% 11% 21% 

Additional paid-in 
capital 

236,429,50
0 

228,858,00
0 

200,217,50
0 7,571,500 3% 28,640,500 14% 11% 12% 20% 

Deficit (226,993,98
0) 

(225,302,61
3) 

(70,880,883
) (1,691,367) 1% (154,421,73

0) 
218
% -11% -12% -7% 

TOTAL EQUITY 224,495,52
0 

218,615,38
7 

344,396,61
7 5,880,133 3% (125,781,23

0) 
-

37% 10% 11% 34% 

           

TOTAL LIABILITIES 
AND EQUITY 

2,148,592,9
19 

1,940,337,1
82 

1,008,434,6
49 208,255,737 11% 931,902,533 92% 100

% 100% 100% 

 

2024 2023 2022 

Cash and Cash Equivalent 

For the year 2024, most of the cash 
resources have been utilized to procure 
medical supplies, materials, and 
equipment, ensuring the continuous 
fulfillment of daily requirements for 
patient care and the smooth operation 
of hospital services. 

Since the hospital commenced its 
operations last December 8, 2023, 
mostly cash has been utilized to 
procure medical supplies, materials 
and equipment, ensuring the 
fulfillment of daily requirements for 
patient care. 

Due to full swing of construction, 
most of the cash was used for the 
completion of the building and purchase of 
machineries and equipment. 
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Advances and other receivables 

Advances to contractors represents 
advances for awarded project activity 
and is liquidated via deduction, on a 
pro-rate basis from the contractor's 
periodic progress billings. 

 
 

Advances to contractor 
and supplier represents advance 
payment for project activity awarded 
and , for  medical supplies not yet 
delivered. 

Advances to contractor represents 
advances for awarded project 
activity and is liquidated via deduction, 
on a pro-rate basis from the 
contractor's periodic progress billings. 
Advances to suppliers represents 
advance payment of medical 
equipment and furniture, and software 
that are not yet delivered. 

 
 

Land 

Pertains to properties located in Kalibo, Aklan with a total area of 9,500 sqm, where its Hospital building is 
constructed. 

Construction-in-progress 

As of December 31, 2024, the total 
percentage of completion of the 
construction is at 98.65% with 
accomplishments at 100% for structural 
Works, 100% for Site Development 
Auxiliary Structures, 100% for 
Perimeter Fence and Road Networks, 
100% for Electronics and Auxiliary 
Works, 100% for Electrical Works, 100% 
for Elevator and Escalator, 99.80% for 
Medical Gases, 98.97% for Mechanical 
Works, 96.40% for Plumbing Works, 
94.91% for Architectural and Interior Fit 
out Works,  and 93.62% for Fire 
Protection Works. 

As of December 31, 2023, the total 
percentage of completion of the 
construction is at 94.19% with 
accomplishments at 100% for 
structural Works, 81.36% for 
Architectural Works and Interior Fit 
out, 90.67% for Plumbing Works, 
89.87% for Fire Protection Works, 
92.03% for Electrical Work, 99% for 
Electronics and Auxiliary Works, 
86.28% for Electronics Work Devices, 
97.72% for Mechanical Works, 
Perimeter Fence and Road Networks 
at b100%, 100% for Site 
Development Auxiliary Structures, 
70.13% for Medical Gases, and 90% 
for Owner Supplied Material 
delivered and installed. 

As certified by construction 
managers, the estimated percentage 
of completion as at December 31, 2022 
of the construction on structural works 
is at 100%, plumbing works is 75.04%, 
fire protection work is at 70.07% 
electrical works is at 78.20% 
Architectural works and Interior Outfit 
at 20.96%, Mechanical Works at 
45.41%, Perimeter fence & Road 
Networks at 100% and Site 
Development Auxiliary Structure is at 
45.67%. 

Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities 

Retention payable amounted to 
P50,032,254 as at December 31, 2024. 

Retention payable amounted 
P58,059,427 as at December 31, 

Retention payable amounted 
P37,368,842 as at December 31, 2022. 
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Other payables pertain to unpaid 
professional fees and other expenses 
incurred but not yet paid as at 
December 31, 2024. Unearned revenue 
pertains to downpayment of patients 
not yet discharged. 

2023. Other payables pertain to 
unpaid professional fees and other 
expenses incurred but not yet paid 
as at December 31, 2023. 

Other payables pertain to 
unpaid professional fees and other 
expenses incurred but not yet paid as at 
December 31, 2022. 

 

Loans payable from related party 

These are unsecured, interest- bearing and slowly being liquidated there are available funds. Loans from other related 
party as support for the construction of Company’s hospital building and pay-off advances used as bridge financing to 
construction. 

Loans payable 

In 2024, the bank agreed to change the 
terms extending the grace period of 
quarterly payments and interest to 8.25%. 

During the year, the company 
received P696,400,696 from DBP, P 
47,000,000 from Phil 
Pharmawealth Inc. and P 
10,000,000 from Aklan Zion 
Ventures Inc. 

During the year, the company 
received a loan from Development 
Bank of the Philippines amounting to 
P 390,000,000 

Share Capital 

There have been no movement in the 
share of capital for the year 2024. 

There have been no movement in 
the share of capital for the year 
2023. 

.There is an increase of P21.2M in 
Total Share Capital or equivalent to 
11%. 

Additional Paid-in Capital 

Additional Paid-in Capital increased to P 
236M for the year 2024. 

Additional Paid-in Capital 
increased to P 228M for the year 
2023.  The increase was due to 
payments made by stockholders 
with installment terms. 

An increase of P 59.2M or equivalent 
to 42% in Additional Paid-in capital 
this year. 

Deficit 

The deficit further increased in 2024 as 
the Company continues to incur 
substantial operating expenses while 
revenues have yet to recover these costs 
in its first full year of operations. 

The company has just started its operation last December 8,2023. All 
expenses of the company basically administrative and purchased of 
materials and supplies to support patient care, caused the increase in 
deficit that was recorded. 
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For the Year Ended 
 31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-22 
GROSS REVENUES ₱780,354,111.00 ₱9,623,184.00  
DISCOUNTS AND FREE 
SERVICES 

(111,322,951) (211,533) 
- 

NET REVENUES 669,031,160 9,411,651 - 
COST OF SERVICES (495,527,057) (26,911,718) - 
GROSS PROFIT (LOSS) 173,504,103 (17,500,067) - 
GENERAL AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

(153,760,156) (119,818,535) 
(17,507,127) 

OTHER INCOME 6,508,831 311,577 74,764 
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS 26,252,778 (137,007,025) (17,432,363) 

FINANCE COSTS (27,815,643) -17,414,705 - 
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (1,562,865) (154,421,730) (17,432,363) 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX 
(Notes 2 and 21) 

128,502  

 
NET LOSS (1,691,367.00) (154,421,730.00) (17,432,363.00) 

 

The hospital began operations on December 8, 2023. For the year ending December 31, 2024, the company 
reported gross revenues of ₱780.35 million, with net revenues of ₱669.03 million after discounts and free 
services. Despite the substantial increase in revenues, the company incurred a net loss of ₱1.69 million due 
to high general and administrative expenses of ₱153.76 million, largely driven by the construction and 
administrative costs related to setting up operations. The company also experienced finance costs of ₱27.82 
million, contributing to the overall loss. For 2023, the company’s performance showed a significant loss of 
₱154.42 million, primarily due to the early-stage operational setup. 

 
 
 
 

LIQUIDITY 

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
 

2024
 
2023

            CURRENT RATIO 
Current Assets/Current Liabilities    0.42:1  0.71:1  
 

SOLVENCY 
DEBT TO EQUITY RATIO 

Total Liabilities/Total Equity    8.57:1      7.88:1 
 
 

PROFITABILITY 
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NET PROFIT MARGIN 
Net Income/ Total Revenue -0.25% -1641% 

 
 
 

RETURN ON EQUITY 
Net Income/Average Total Equity -0.76% -54.86% 

 
 

LEVERAGE 
        DEBT TO TOTAL ASSET RATIO 

 
 

Total Debt / Total Assets      0.90:1                         0.88 : 1  

 

ASSET TO EQUITY RATIO 
Total Assets / Equity    9.57:1                        8:88 : 1 

 

INTEREST RATE COVERAGE RATIO 
 

INTEREST RATE COVERAGE RATIO
Earnings Before Interests & Taxes / Interest Expense  

-3.50:1 -7.62:1 
  

 

As of December 31, 2024 
1. The company has not been involved in any legal proceedings, tax and/or regulatory assessments. 
2. There has been no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations and other relationships of 

the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period. 
3. There are no seasonal aspects that had a material impact on the results of operations of the company. 
4. There are no events nor any default acceleration of an obligation that will trigger direct or contingent 

financial obligation that is material to the company. 
5. The Company does not have foreign currency risk because the Company has no monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currency both for 2024 and 2023. 
 

2024 compared to 2023 
 

1. The company has just completed its first full year of operations after opening on December 8, 2023. As a 
result, the deficit has increased to support patient care activities and operational needs. 

2. The building’s construction is now nearly 100% complete; however, the company’s resources, particularly 
cash, continue to be heavily utilized due to growing operational expenses. Despite the challenges, the 
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hospital managed to sustain its operations. 
 

2023 compared to 2022 
 
1. The company has just commenced its operations last December 8, 2023, in result, the deficit will have a 

significant increase to support patient care activities.   
2. The completion of the building's construction and the operation itself are the two main operations that 

the company's resources, particularly cash, are needed for.  Despite the odds, the hospital was able to 
continue, though slowly. 

 

2022 compared to 2021 

1.In the middle of 2021, the authority to sell securities was approved by SEC. This permit enabled the company 
to hasten the construction of the hospital because funds generated thru the sale of securities. 

2.Given that the hospital is in full swing, company resources, especially cash has been depleting. Also, the 
pandemic affected the sales of securities which eventually affected the construction of the hospital. Despite 
the odds, the hospital was able to continue though slowly.  

Item 7. Financial Statements 
 

The 2024 Audited Financial Statements of the Company (with External Auditors’ PTR, Name of Certifying 
Partner and Address) and Statement of Management’s Responsibility are attached hereto as Annex A. 

 
 

Item 8. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 

The financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 has been 
audited by Querido Diel & Co. and the partner in charge is Richard S. Querido.  

 
There were no disagreements with Querido Diel & Co. for the year 2024 and 2023 on any matter relating 
to accounting principles and practices, disclosure of financial statements, auditing scope and procedures. 

 
Note 2, Transition to the PFRS, to the financial statements provide discussion on the change in the financial 
reporting framework, pursuant to the Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, as Amended (2011), including 
adjustments made on prior period correction of errors in classification of accounts. 

 
EXTERNAL AUDIT FEES AND SERVICES 

The External Auditor has rendered: 

- Audit of the Registrants annual financial statements or services that are normally provided by the 
external auditor in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those fiscal 
years. 

- Other assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or 
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review of the registrant’s financial statements. 

- The Audit Committee has approved the above-mentioned services.  

- The aggregate fees billed are shown below: 

 
Fees approved in connection with the assurance rendered by Querido Diel & Co. for 2024 and 2023 in accordance 
with statutory and regulatory requirements total P 806,400 for the years ended December 31, 2024, and P 336,000 
inclusive of 12% VAT for the years ended December 31, 2023. 

 
 

Year 2024 2023 

Audit Fees 806,400 336,000 

 
There are no tax engagements done by Querido Diel & Co. for 2024. 

PART III – CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 

Item 9. Directors and Executive Officers of the Issuer 
 

The overall management and supervision of the Company is undertaken by the Board. The Company’s executive 
officers and management team cooperate with the Board by preparing appropriate information and documents 
concerning the Company’s business operations, financial condition and results of its operations for its review. 
Currently, the Board consists of fifteen (15) members, of which three (3) are independent directors. 

The table below set forth the members of the Company’s Board as of December 31, 2024. 
 
 

No Name Age Position Citizenship 

1 Biron, Ferjenel G. 60 Chairman Filipino 

2 Arce, Simeon Jr. A. 61 President/CEO Filipino 

3 Debuque, Eileen May B. 56 Vice Chairman/Chief of 
Clinics 

Filipino 

4 Perez, Claire B. 53 Vice President/COO Filipino 
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5 Conanan-Morato, Marsha Lourdes P. 42 Corporate Secretary Filipino 

6 Francisco, Nikki James C. 40 Asst. Secretary Filipino 

7 Abril, Joanne B. 45 Treasurer/Asst. Medical 
Director 

Filipino 

8 Daulo-Lavilla, Meride 61 Director/Vice President for 
Internal Audit 

Filipino 

9 Buenaflor, Regina R. 44 Director/Asst. Vice President 
for Procurement Services 

Filipino 

10 Ardeña, Gregory Joseph Ryan A. 48 Director Filipino 

11 Quimpo, Raymundo R. 50 Director Filipino 

12 Regozo, Danilo C. 61 Director Filipino 

13 Comuelo, Jerusha A.  57 Independent Director Filipino 

14 Quindor, Darcy A. 46 Independent Director Filipino 

15 Quintana-Bartolome, Delphine Joanne C. 43 Independent Director Filipino 

 

All the above individuals were elected as Board of Directors and Officers of the Corporation for the year 2024 until 
their successors are elected during the Annual Stockholders Meeting of ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) – 
AKLAN INC. held on June 14, 2024. 

The business experience of the members of the Board and Executive Officers for the last five (5) years is as follows:   

 
Biron, Ferjenel G. 
Chairman 
 
Dr. Biron is the Chairman of the Asia-Pacific Medical Center (APMC) group of hospitals, which includes APMC Aklan, 
APMC Bacolod, and APMC Iloilo. These hospitals were separately incorporated in December 2014 (Asia Pacific 
Medical Center-Iloilo, Inc.), September 2017 (Asia Pacific Medical Center - Bacolod, Inc.), and December 2017 (Asia 
Pacific Medical Center- Aklan, Inc.). He served as President of these hospitals from their incorporation until June 2020 
for APMC Aklan, August 2021 for APMC Iloilo, and August 2022 for APMC Bacolod. 
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From 2020 to 2021, Dr. Biron held the position of Chief Executive Officer at Endure Medical Inc. He is currently the 
President of Aesthetica Manila, Inc., and Smartlab Diagnostics, Inc., and serves as Chairman of several companies, 
including Park3 Realty & Development Corporation, EMI Properties OPC, Newlife Regenerative and Wellness Center, 
Obbo Holdings, Inc., Botikang Pinoy, Inc., Super BP Mart Corporation, and Endure Medical Laboratories Inc. 
 
Dr. Biron was elected as Congressman for the Fourth District of Iloilo, serving from 2004 to 2013 and again from 2016 
to 2019. He was re-elected in 2022 and previously chaired the Committee on Legislative Franchises and the 
Committee on Trade and Industry. In the current Congress, he has been a member of the Commission on 
Appointments from August 8, 2022, to March 19, 2024, and was appointed Chairman of the House Committee on 
Trade and Industry on March 20, 2024. Additionally, he is a member of the Board of Directors for Allied Care Experts 
(ACE) Medical Center – Butuan Inc., ACE Medical Center – GENSAN Inc., and ACE Medical Center – Cagayan de Oro, 
Inc. 
 
Arce, Simeon Jr. A. 
President/CEO 
 
Dr. Simeon A. Arce, Jr. has held a range of prominent roles in both the medical and business fields. He has served as 
a Visiting Consultant at Saint Gabriel Medical Center and. St. Jude’s Hospital (2002–present), Dr. Rafael S. Tumbokon 
Memorial Hospital (2002–present), and Aklan Mission Hospital (1996–1999; 2002– 2019). From 1990 to 1996, Dr. 
Arce worked as a Medical Officer 4 in the Department of Medicine at Dr. Rafael S. Tumbokon Memorial Hospital and 
as a Medical Officer 3 at Veterans Medical Memorial Medical Center from 1999 to 2002. In addition to his medical 
career, he has taken on key leadership roles, including Chairman of the Board at Village Marketing-Kalibo Corp. 
(2003–present), Board of Director at S&D Agroindustrial Corp. (2006–present), Treasurer at ACEMC Aklan Inc. (2018–
2019), and he is currently serving as President/CEO (2019–present). 
 
Debuque, Eileen May B. 
Vice Chairman/Chief of Clinics 

 
Dr. Eileen May B. Debuque has held various prestigious roles throughout her medical career. She currently serves as 
the Vice Chairman of APMC-Aklan Inc. (2018-Present) and as a Clinical Practitioner in Internal Medicine at APMC-
Aklan (2023-Present). In addition, she has been a Clinical Practitioner in Internal Medicine at Balbastro Medical Clinic 
since 1998 and a Visiting Consultant at Saint Gabriel Medical Center, Dr. Rafael S. Tumbokon Memorial Hospital, and 
Panay Health Care MPC Hospital, with ongoing contributions since 1998, 2002, and 2013, respectively. Dr. Debuque 
is also a Fellow of the Philippine College of Physicians and an active member of both the PCP Capiz-Aklan Chapter 
and the Philippine Medical Association, Aklan Medical Society. She has provided her expertise as a Visiting Consultant 
at Saint Jude’s Hospital from 1998 to 2017 and at Aklan Cooperative Mission Hospital from 1998 to 2019. From 2003 
to 2005, she worked as a MICU Consultant at Dr. Rafael S. Tumbokon Memorial Hospital and served as a Medical 
Officer IV in the Department of Internal Medicine at the same hospital from 1998 to 2002. Her leadership extends 
beyond clinical practice, having previously served as Vice President, Secretary, and Board Director of the Aklan 
Medical Society. In June 2018, Dr. DEBUQUE completed a Masters in Management, majoring in Hospital 
Administration. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 34 of 123



Perez, Claire B. 
Vice President/COO 
 
Dr. Claire B. Perez has served as a Visiting Consultant at multiple hospitals, including Saint Gabriel Medical Center, 
Panay Health Care MPC Hospital, Aklan Mission Cooperative Hospital, Dr. Rafael S. Tumbokon Memorial Hospital, 
and Saint Jude Hospital. In addition to her clinical roles, Dr. Perez has held leadership positions within the Philippine 
College of Physicians (PCP), including Secretary of the Capiz-Aklan Chapter in 2015, Assistant Secretary/Treasurer in 
2016, and Vice President of the Capiz-Aklan Chapter from 2018 to 2019. In 2019, Dr. Perez became the President of 
the Capiz-Aklan Chapter. She has also been a Director at ACEMC Aklan Inc. (2018-2019) and a Director/Assistant 
Treasurer at APMC-Aklan from 2020 to 2021. Currently, Dr. Perez serves as the Chief Operating Officer and Vice 
President of Asia Pacific Medical Center - Aklan Inc. 
 
Conanan-Morato, Marsha Lourdes P. 
Corporate Secretary 
 
Dr. Marsha Lourdes P. Conanan-Morato has held significant roles in both medical practice and hospital leadership. 
She served as Chief Resident in the Department of Anesthesiology at West Visayas State University Medical Center 
from 2009 to 2012. From 2012 to 2016, she worked as a Medical Specialist I at Ibajay District Hospital. Dr. Morato is 
currently the Chairman of the Department of Anesthesiology at Saint Gabriel Medical Center (2016-present) and has 
been a Visiting Consultant there since 2012. She also serves as a Visiting Consultant at Panay Health Care MPC 
Hospital, Aklan Mission Cooperative Hospital, Dr. Rafael S. Tumbokon Memorial Hospital, and Aklan Baptist Hospital. 
Dr. Morato was Chairman of the Department of Anesthesiology at Dr. Rafael S. Tumbokon Memorial Hospital from 
2014 to 2018. Additionally, she has been active in the Aklan Medical Society as an Auditor/Member (2014-2016) and 
currently holds the position of Board Director and Corporate Secretary at APMC-Aklan Inc. (2017-present). 
 
Francisco, Nikki James C. 
Assistant Corporate Secretary 
 
Dr. Nikki James C. Francisco serves as a Visiting Consultant at several hospitals including APMC Aklan, Saint Gabriel 
Medical Center, Panay Health Care MPC Hospital, and Aklan Mission Cooperative Hospital.  In addition to his clinical 
responsibilities, he holds the position of Assistant Secretary at APMC Aklan Inc. 
 
Abril, Joanne B. 
Treasurer/Assistant Medical Director 
 
Dr. Joanne B. Abril has served as a Visiting Consultant at several hospitals, including Saint Gabriel Medical Center, 
Panay Health Care MPC Hospital. She is the Chairman of the Infection Prevention and Control and Antimicrobial 
Stewardship Committees at APMC Aklan Dr. Abril was a member of the Board of Director for the PCP Capiz-Aklan 
from 2018 to 2019 and served as the Treasurer of the same organization from 2019 to 2020. and now the Vice 
president and incoming president of PCP Capiz Aklan Chapter. Additionally, she has been serving as the 
Director/Treasurer at APMC Aklan Inc. since 2019. 
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Daulo-Lavilla, Meride 
Director/Vice President for Internal Audit 
 
Dr. Lavilla is the current Vice President for Internal Audit of APMC – Aklan Inc.. and the former Vice President of Asia 
Pacific Medical Center (APMC) - Aklan Inc. from 2018-2021. She had also served APMC – Iloilo as the Assistant 
Corporate Treasurer from December 2014 to May 2016 and was the Corporate Secretary from June 2016 until she 
stepped down to become Assistant Corporate Secretary on September 2019, a position she held until her election as 
Vice Chairman in August 2021. 
 
Dr. Lavilla was also the Corporate Secretary of Healthlink Inc. for 3 years and member of its Board of Directors for 5 
years. She also served as the Corporate Treasurer from 2017 to 2018 and Assistant Corporate Treasurer from 2019 
until she was elected Assistant Corporate Secretary in 2021 until 14 August 2022 of Asia Pacific Medical Center 
Bacolod Inc. 
She had been a Director of Allied Care Experts MedicalCenter Cagayan de Oro Inc. from 2016 and is the current 
Assistant Corporate Treasurer of the corporation. She is also a Founding Member of Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical 
Center- Butuan, Inc., and Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center GENSAN. Dr. Lavilla served as Chairman of Excel 
Global Inc. from 2017-2020. Dr. Lavilla is a member of the Philippine College of Occupational Medicine and is a 
Medical Retainer for Vitarich Corporation from 2009 to date and Angelina Bakeshop from 2008 to 2020. 
 
Dr. Lavilla took Bachelor of Science in Biology and graduated Cum Laude from West Visayas State University in 1984. 
She had her medical studies at West Visayas State University, College of Medicine in 1988. She had her PostGraduate 
Internship at St. Paul’s Hospital in the year 1988-1989 and had her residency training in Pediatrics and became the 
Chief Resident at West Visayas State University Medical Center from 1990 to 1993. She became a Diplomate of the 
Philippine Pediatric Society in 1998 and a Fellow Member in 2014. She has been a Clinical Preceptor in Pediatrics for 
2nd and 3rd year Medical Students of West Visayas State University, College of Medicine from 1994 to present. She 
is completing her thesis for Master of Arts in Hospital Administration at Cebu Doctors University. Aside from being a 
Physician, Dr. Lavilla is also a Registered Nurse . 
 
Buenaflor, Regina R. 

Director/Assistant Vice President for Procurement Services 
 
Dr. Regina R. Buenaflor is currently serving as a Visiting Consultant at several esteemed healthcare institutions, 
including Saint Gabriel Medical Center, Panay Health Care MPC Hospital, Dr. Rafael S. Tumbokon Memorial Hospital, 
Saint Jude Hospital, and Aklan Cooperative Mission Hospital. Additionally, Dr. Buenaflor has held a significant 
leadership role as a member of the Board of Directors at APMC Aklan Inc. since 2021. Furthermore, she is the Head 
of the OBGyne Department at APMC Aklan and has taken on the responsibility of Assistant Vice President for 
Procurement Services. 
 
Ardeña, Gregory Joseph Ryan A. 
Director 
 
Dr. Gregory Joseph Ryan A. Ardeña has held the role of Visiting Consultant at various hospitals, including Saint Gabriel 
Medical Center, Panay Health Care MPC Hospital, Dr. Rafael S. Tumbokon Memorial Hospital, and Saint Jude Hospital. 
He previously served as the President of the PCP Capiz-Aklan Chapter from 2017-2018 and is currently the Chairman 
of the Department of Medicine at Panay Health Care Hospital (2013-present). Dr. Ardeña has been a Director at 
APMC Aklan Inc. since 2018 and served as the Medical Director for APMC Aklan Inc. for the term 2023-2024. 
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Quimpo, Raymundo R. 
Director  
 
Dr. Raymundo R. Quimpo has served as a Visiting Consultant at several hospitals, including Saint Gabriel Medical 
Center, Panay Health Care MPC Hospital, and Aklan Mission Cooperative Hospital. He is a Medical Specialist at Dr. 
Rafael S. Tumbokon Memorial Hospital, where he also serves as the Head of the Department of Orthopedics (2007-
Present). Dr. Quimpo is the Chairman of the USWAG Development Foundation and the President of the USWAG 
Employees Cooperative. Additionally, he is a Board of Director member at Northwestern Visayas Colleges and the 
Philippine Orthopedic Association - Western Visayas Chapter. Dr. Quimpo has also held the position of 
Director/Chairman of the Construction Committee at APMC Aklan Inc. since 2018. 

 
Regozo, Danilo C. 
Director 
 
Dr. Regozo is a Director of APMC- Aklan Inc. since 2017 to Present and is the current Executive Vice President of the 
APMC – Iloilo Inc. and the concurrent Head of the Construction Committee. He is also the Executive Vice President 
of Asia Pacific Medical Center - Bacolod Inc. since 2017 and a Director in Allied Care Experts Medical Center, Butuan 
Inc. and Allied Care Experts Medical Center, GENSAN Inc. since 2016. 
 
Dr. Regozo is the owner of Farmacia Neo and Regozo Family Medicine Clinic. He is also an Associate Member of the 
Philippine College of Occupational Medicine from 1994 to present. He was the Treasurer from 2001 to 2003 and Vice 
President from 2003 to 2004 of the Philippine Academy of Family Physicians, Iloilo Chapter. Moreover, Dr. Regozo 
was the Assistant Secretary from 2014 to 2016, Vice President from 2016 to 2018 and a member of the Board of 
Directors of Iloilo Medical Society from2018 to 2019. 
 
Dr. Regozo graduated at the University of the Philippines with a degree in Bachelor of Science in Fisheries in 1983. 
He finished his Bachelor of Science in Biological Sciences at West Visayas State University in 1984. He then completed 
his Medical Degree at West Visayas State University, College of Medicine in 1988. Dr. Regozo had his Post- Graduate 
Internship at St. Paul’s Hospital in 1988. In 1999, he was conferred as Diplomate in Family Medicine. Aside from being 
a Physician, Dr. Regozo is also registered Nurse. Currently, Dr. Regozo is writing his thesis for his Master of Arts in 
Hospital Administration at Cebu Doctor’s College. 
 
Comuelo, Jerusha A. 
Independent Director 

Dr. Jerusha A. Comuelo is a speaker and reactor for various Philippine Pediatric Society-accredited hospitals in the 
Western Visayas region, as well as for pharmaceutical and nutritional companies. She currently serves as the 
Chairperson of the Department of Pediatrics at both the West Visayas State University Medical Center and the West 
Visayas State University College of Medicine. In addition, she is the Chairperson of the Emergency Department at the 
West Visayas State University Medical Center. Dr. Comuelo completed her Pediatric Residency Training at West 
Visayas State University, where she also served as Chief Resident. She later pursued subspecialty training in Pediatric 
Neurology at the Philippine Children’s Medical Center. She is a Life Member of the Philippine Medical Association 
and a member of the Child Neuro Society of the Philippines, the Philippine League Against Epilepsy, and the Oceanian 
Society of Child Neurology. Currently, she is working on her thesis for a Master in Hospital Administration at Cebu 
Doctors’ University. As one of the company’s directors, she attended the Corporate Governance Training conducted 
by PWC/Isla Lipana on May 14, 2021. She also participated in the Best Practices of Effective Boards training conducted 
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by the Center for Global Best Practices on February 8, 2022, and the Training on Finance for Directors by the Institute 
of Corporate Directors on May 10–11, 2022. 

Quindor, Darcy A. 
Independent Director 
 
Dr. Darcy Quindor currently serves as a Visiting Consultant at several prominent healthcare institutions, including 
Saint Gabriel Medical Center, Panay Health Care MPC Hospital, Dr. Rafael S. Tumbokon Memorial Hospital, and Saint 
Jude Hospital. In addition to his clinical roles, Dr. Quindor has been an Independent Director at APMC - Aklan Inc. 
since 2020. 

Quintana-Bartolome, Delphine Joanne C. 
Independent Director 
 
Dr. Delphine Joanne Quintana-Bartolome currently holds the position of Visiting Consultant at several prestigious 
healthcare institutions, including Saint Gabriel Medical Center, Panay Health Care MPC Hospital and Saint Jude 
Hospital. In addition to her clinical expertise, Dr. Quintana-Bartolome has been serving as an Independent Director 
at APMC Aklan Inc. since 2021. 

 

Term of Office 

Pursuant to the Company’s By-Laws, the directors are elected at each annual stockholders’ meeting by stockholders 
entitled to vote. Each Director holds office until the next annual election and his successor is duly elected, unless he 
resigns, dies or is removed prior to election to such. 

 

OFFICERS 

The table below sets forth APMCAI’s executive officers in addition to its executive directors listed above as 
of December 31, 2024. 

 

Name Age Position Citizenship Period during which 
individual has 
served as such 

Maylene B. Villanueva 44 Compliance Officer Filipino 4 July 2021 to present 

May Urbanozo-Ignacio 50 Data Protection Officer/Vice 
President for Patients Support 
Services/Administrative Officer 

Filipino 4 July 2021 to present 

Page 38 of 123



Bonnie Vee S. Dela Torre 38 Chief Finance Officer Filipino 30 June 2023 to 
December 2023; 18 
February 2024 to 
present 

Mary Karen Veronica R. 
Icamina 

46 Medical Director Filipino 01 September 2024 - 
present 

Amado M. Lavalle, Jr. 61 Vice President for Procurement 
Services 

Filipino 18 February 2024 - 
present 

Agnes Jean M. Villaflor 60 Vice President for Finance Filipino 18 February 2024 - 
present 

 
BONNIE VEE S. DELA TORRE is the Chief Finance Officer of the Company. He is a Certified Public Accountant and 
Certified Internal Auditor. He is also the owner of DT Accounting and Consultancy Services. He was previously 
employed as Audit Manager of Aklan Electric Cooperative and Compliance Head of Maxicare Healthcare 
Corporation. 

 
DR. MAY URBANOZO-IGNACIO is the Data Protection Officer/Vice President for Patients Support Services and 
Administrative Officer of the Company. She obtained her Doctor of Medicine and BS Biology degree from Iloilo 
Doctors College of Medicine and University of the Philippines in the Visayas, respectively . She had her Masters in 
Management Major in Hospital Administration from the Philippine Christian University . She is a Certified Data 
Protection Officer by the UP Open University. 

 
MAYLENE B. VILLANUEVA  has served as the Compliance Officer of the Company since July 2021. She is also the 
President of TIPP Digital Solutions, Inc., an IT solutions company, and the Managing Partner of Villanueva, Balio, 
and Ariston Law Offices. Her legal expertise encompasses government procurement, intellectual property, data 
privacy, labor, and various corporate laws. 
 
In addition to her role at the Company, Atty. Villanueva has been the Compliance Officer for Asia Pacific Medical 
Center (APMC) - Iloilo, Inc. since February 2019, APMC - Bacolod since April 2022, and Allied Care Experts (ACE) 
Medical Center - Zamboanga since August 2024. She serves as the Vice President for Legal Affairs and Human 
Resources at Phil Pharmawealth, Inc., and has acted as legal counsel for companies owned by the Biron Group 
since 2012. Notably, she was the Acting President of Phil Pharmawealth, Inc. from September 2021 to April 2022. 
 
Atty. Villanueva concurrently serves as the Corporate Secretary for Quiklab Diagnostics, Inc., Aesthetica Manila 
Inc., and Smartlab Diagnostics Inc. and was the Corporate Secretary of APMC Iloilo from August 2019 to June 2023.   
From 2019 to 2023, she was aLos a Private Sector Representative on the Board of Trustees/Regents of Iloilo State 
University of Fisheries, Science and Technology (formerly ISCOF). Her involvement in Junior Chamber International 
Philippines has been significant; she has held various positions, including Area Vice President for Area 4 – Visayas 
in 2020, General Legal Counsel in 2019, and Regional Vice President for Western Visayas in 2016. She also served 
as the Revival President of the local organization JCI Barotac Nuevo Tamasak from 2013 to 2014. In recognition of 
her contributions, she was conferred a JCI Senatorship on May 6, 2022, by Junior Chamber International. 
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Atty. Villanueva earned her degrees in Law and Broadcast Communication from the University of San Agustin and 
the University of the Philippines in the Visayas, respectively. She is a Certified Compliance Officer and Certified 
Tax Specialist through the Center for Global Best Practices, as well as an Associate Member of the Institute of 
Corporate Directors. As Corporate Secretary of the Company, she participated in Corporate Governance Training 
conducted by PWC/Isla Lipana on May 14, 2021. Additionally, she is a Certified Data Protection Officer from the 
UP Open University and a Certified Level 2 Public Procurement Specialist through the GPPB-UP National 
Engineering Center program partnership. 
 
AMADO M. LAVALLE, JR. is the current Vice President for Procurement Services of the company. He is also the 
current President of APMC-Iloilo and he also served as Executive Vice President from August 2019 until he was 
elected President in August 2021. He was the Vice Chairman of the Board of APMC-Iloilo from June 2016 to August 
2019 and has been one of the Directors of the Company since 2014. Dr. Lavalle was a Training Officer from 1997 
to 2004 and the Chairman from 2005 to 2011 of the Department of Surgery of St. Paul’s Hospital. He is also a 
Consultant of West Visayas State University Hospital Medical Center, Department of Surgery from 1998 to present 
and Western Visayas Medical Center from 1998 to 2017. Dr. Lavalle served as the Secretary from 1998 to 2001 
and President from 2002 to 2003 of Philippine Society of General Surgeons, Panay Chapter. He also became a 
member of the Board of Directors of Philippine College of Surgeons Panay Chapter from 1998 to 2002. Dr. Lavalle 
was a consistent Honor Student from Elementary to College. He finished his Bachelor of Science in Biological 
Sciences at West Visayas State University 1984 and graduated Magna Cum Laude. He continued his Medical 
Studies in the same University until he graduated in 1988. He had his Post-Graduate Internship at St. Paul’s 
Hospital from 1988 to 1989. 
 
Dr. Lavalle had his residency training in General Surgery from 1990 to 1994 in the same hospital. He had his 
Fellowship Training in Surgical Oncology at UP- PGH in 1996. He is presently taking his 
Master of Arts in Hospital Administration at Cebu Doctor’s University and currently on thesis writing. 

 
AGNES JEAN M. VILLAFLOR Is the current Vice President for Finance of the company. 
 
She is the current Medical Director of APMC-Iloilo. She was the Corporate Treasurer of APMC-Iloilo since June 
2016 to December 17, 2023 and has been one of its Board of Directors since 2014. She also served as Assistant 
Corporate Secretary of APMC -Iloilo from December 2014 to May 2016 prior to her election as Corporate 
Treasurer. She is also the Medical Director of M3 Dialysis Center since 2007 and the Medical Director and Secretary 
of Renal Specialty Inc. from 2016 to present. She is a Training Officer at West Visayas 
State University Medical Center Department of Internal Medicine and a Professorial Lecturer at the College of 
Medicine of West Visayas State University and Central Philippine University. Dr. Villaflor took her Bachelor of 
Science in Biological Science at the University of the Philippines in the Visayas and her medical studies at West 
Visayas State University. She had her Post- Graduate Internship at Western Visayas Medical Center and had her 
residency training in Internal Medicine at West Visayas State University Hospital. She had her Fellowship Training 
at Philippine General Hospital in Nephrology. She is completing her Masteral studies in Hospital Administration at 
Cebu Doctor’s University.  
 
MARY KAREN VERONICA R. ICAMINA is a distinguished obstetrician and gynecologist. She has dedicated her 
career to advancing women’s health, specializing in reproductive endocrinology and infertility. Dr. Icamina began 
her academic journey by earning a Bachelor of Science in Pharmacy from the University of the Philippines - Manila 
in 1998. She continued her education at the University of the East Ramon Magsaysay Medical Center, where she 
completed her Doctor of Medicine degree in 2002, followed by a post-graduate internship at the same institution 
in 2003. Her passion for women’s health led her to pursue residency training in Obstetrics and Gynecology at the 
University of the Philippines – Philippine General Hospital, which she completed in 2008. Further refining her 
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expertise, Dr. Icamina undertook a fellowship in Reproductive Endocrinology and Infertility at the same hospital, 
finishing in 2010. In addition to her medical training, Dr. Icamina also pursued a Master’s degree in Hospital 
Administration at the Philippine Christian University and graduated on March 28, 2020, reflecting her commitment 
to leadership in healthcare. 
 
Dr. Icamina currently serves as the Medical Director of Asia Pacific Medical Center – Aklan Inc., officially appointed 
on August 29, 2024. Previously, she was the Chief of Clinics and later the Assistant Medical Director at the same 
institution. Since 2012, she has been a Board Director at MMG Aklan Specialty Clinics and has headed the 
Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology at Saint Gabriel Medical Center since 2013. She is also affiliated with 
Aklan Mission Cooperative Hospital, Saint Jude Hospital, and The Health Centrum in Roxas City. Beyond her clinical 
practice, Dr. Icamina is an accomplished researcher, with notable publications in the Philippine Journal of 
Reproductive Endocrinology and Infertility. Her work has earned her accolades, including second-place awards at 
the PSREI Annual Conventions in 2008 and 2009. 
 

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 

The independent directors of the Company as of 31 December 2024 are as follows: 

1. Delphine Joanne Quintana-Bartolome 

2. Jerusha A. Comuelo 

3. Darcy A. Quindor 
 
 

SIGNIFICANT EMPLOYEES 
 

The Company has no employee who is not an executive officer but who is expected to make a significant 
contribution to the business. 

 
FAMILY RELATIONSHIPS 

 
 

There are no directors and executive officers that are related with each within the fourth civil degree of 
consanguinity or affinity. 

 
INVOLVEMENT IN CERTAIN LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

None of the Directors or Executive Officers is involved in any material pending legal proceedings in any court 
or administrative agency of the government, bankruptcy petition, convicted by final judgment in a criminal 
proceeding or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding, both domestic and foreign, has been subject 
to any order, judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction (domestic or foreign) permanently 
or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting their involvement in any type of business, 
securities, commodities or banking activities or found by a domestic or foreign court of competent 
jurisdiction (in a civil action), the Commission or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or foreign exchange 
or other organized trading market or self regulatory organization, to have violated a securities or 
commodities law or regulation. 
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Item 10. Executive Compensation 

Summary of Compensation Table 

Annual Compensation 
 

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 

 

( a ) Name of Officer and Principal 
Position 

( b ) Year ( c ) Salary* ( d ) Bonus ( e ) Other 
compensation 

(professional fees, per 
diem and other 
allowances)** 

President, Vice President/COO, Vice 
Chairman, Corporate Secretary, 
Treasurer,  

 
All other Officers 
 

2024 3,144,374.95 
 
 
 
   3,799,250.00 

180,000.00 
  
 
   

210,000.00 

450,000.00 
 

 
 

2,912,000.00 

President, Chief Accounting Officer,  
Corporate Secretary, Treasurer 
  
All other Officers 

2023 1,860,000.00 
  
  
  
3,020,000.00 

155,000.00 
  
  
   

235,000.00 

360,000.00 
  
  

  
       170,000.00 

Chairman, President, Chief 
Accounting Officer, Corporate 
Secretary, Treasurer 
  
All other Officers 

2022 1,860,000.00 
  
  
  
2,820,000.00 

155,000.00 
  
   
  

235,000.00 

360,000.00 
  
  
  

        160,000.00 
  

Compensation of Directors 

The directors of the Company do not receive any compensation as director except for per diem for attendance at 
board and Committee meetings.   
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STANDARD ARRANGEMENTS 
       

The company approved a reasonable per diem for each director for every board meeting attended which is 
P10,000.00 as specified and shall be effective on November 2020. 

a. Regular and Special Board Meeting : P10,000.00 

b. Special Meeting for Construction : P 10,000.00 

c. Travel allowance: none 

Due to COVID-19 Pandemic and the resulting travel restrictions, Board meetings had been conducted via remote 
communication. For this reason, Directors had not been entitled to travel allowance since April 2020. 

 
OTHER ARRANGEMENTS 
 
There are no other arrangements pursuant to which any director of the Company was compensated or is to be 
compensated in 2024 for any service provided as a director other than a reasonable per diem as previously approved 
by the Board. 

 

EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 

The Company did not enter into any employment contract with any of its executive officers with terms and conditions 
other than those normally provided by law. Neither did the company enter into any compensatory plan or 
arrangement , including payments to be received by any executive officer from the company if the plan or 
arrangement results or will result to the resignation, retirement or any other termination of such executive officer’s 
employment with the Company and its subsidiaries or a change in control of the Company or change in the executive 
officer’s responsibilities following a change of control where the amount involved, including all periodic payments or 
installments will exceed Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Pesos (PhP 2,500,000.00). 

 
WARRANTS AND OPTIONS HELD BY THE EXECUTIVES AND DIRECTORS 

There are no outstanding warrants or options held by the Company’s CEO, the named executive officers, and all 
officers and directors as a group. 

 

 

SIGNIFICANT EMPLOYEE 

While the company values the contribution of each of its executive and non-executive employees, the Company 
believes there is no non-executive employee the resignation or loss of whom would have a material adverse impact 
in the business of the company. Other than the standard employment contracts, there are no special arrangements 
with non-executive employees of the Company. 
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Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN RECORD AND BENEFICIAL OWNERS 

As of December 31, 2024  the Company knows no one who beneficially owns in excess of 5% of the Company’s 
common stock except set forth in the table which shows the record and beneficial owners of more than 5% of the 
voting securities of the Company as of December 31, 2024. 

Class 
Name / Address of 

Record Owner 

Name of Beneficial 
Owner/Relationship 
with Record Owner Citizenship 

Number 
of Shares 

Held 

% to Total 
Outstanding 
Shares 

Common 

 Founder 

Common 

 Founder 

Common 

 Founder 

Common 

 Founder 

Common 

 Founder 

Arce, Simeon Jr. 
A./ Arce 
Compound, 1021 
Roxas Ave. Ext., 
Andagao, Kalibo, 
Aklan 

Arce, Simeon A./ 
Colleague 

Arce, Simeon A./ 
Colleague 

Arce, Simeon A./ 
Colleague 

Arce, Simeon A./ 
Colleague 

Arce, Simeon Jr. A./ 
Record Owner is also 
Beneficial Owner 

Trustors: 

Romeo A. 
Abayon/147 New 
Buswang, 
Kalibo, Aklan 

Ma. Ester L. 
Alfaro/Nalook, Kalibo, 
Aklan 

Johnna G. De 
Jose/0918 
Vizcarra Subdivision 
Kalibo, Aklan 

Marymil B. 
Dignadice/0 
60 Tigayon, Kalibo, 

Filipino 

Filipino 

Filipino 

Filipino 

Filipino 

6,780 
20 

3,390 

10 

6,780 

20 

3,390 

10 

3,390 

10 

25.30% 

Page 44 of 123



Common 

 Founder 

Common 

 Founder 

Common 

 Founder 

Common 

 Founder 

Common 

 Founder 

Common 

 Founder 

Common 

 Founder 

Arce, Simeon A./ 
Colleague 

Arce, Simeon A./ 
Colleague 

Arce, Simeon A./ 
Colleague 

Arce, Simeon A./ 
Colleague 

Arce, Simeon A./ 
Colleague 

Arce, Simeon A./ 
Colleague 

Arce, Simeon A./ 
Colleague 

Aklan 

Roel A. 
Escanillas/A 
ndagao Centro, Kalibo, 
Aklan 

Edmundo B. 
Fernandez, Jr. 
/Rosal St., 
Phase II, Alta Tierra 
Village, Jaro, Iloilo 
City 

Josefa Roberta A. 
Magallanes/ 
1141 New Buswang, 
Kalibo, Aklan 

Harriet A. 
Navarro/11 
80 A New Buswang, 
Kalibo, Aklan 

Ester F. 
Palma/277 
Magdalena Village, 
New Buswang, Kalibo, 
Aklan 

Pauleen M. 
Sazon/Mari 
anos, Numancia, Aklan 

Peter Myron Jun O. 
Torres/Vizcarra Subd., 
Kalibo, 
Aklan 

Filipino 

Filipino 

Filipino 

Filipino 

Filipino 

Filipino 

Filipino 

3,390 

10 

3,390 

10 

3,390 

10 

3,390 

10 

3,390 

10 

3,390 

10 

3,390 

10 

Page 45 of 123



TOTAL 

Common 
Founder 

47, 460 
140 

Common 

Founder 

Arce, Maribel J./ 
1021 Arce 
Compound, Roxas 
Ave. Ext., Andagao, 
Kalibo, Aklan 

Arce, Maribel J./ 
Record Owner is also 
Beneficial Owner 

Filipino 6,780 

20 

Common 

Founder 

Biron, Brandt Luke 
Q./ 
82 Firefly cor. 
Butterfly St., Valle 
Verde VI, Pasig City 

Biron, Brandt Luke Q./ 
Record Owner is also 
Beneficial Owner 

Filipino 15,390 

10 

7.16% 

Common 

Founder 

Buenaflor, Regina 
R./Sitio San 
Antonio, Mangan, 
Banga, Aklan 

Buenaflor, Regina R./ 
Record Owner is also 
Beneficial Owner 

Filipino 6,780 

20 

7.90% 

Common 

Founder 

Buenaflor, Patrick 
Dexter M./ Sitio 
San Antonio, 
Mangan, Banga, 
Aklan 

Buenaflor, Patrick 
Dexter M./ Record 
Owner is also 
Beneficial Owner 

Filipino 10,170 

30 
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT 

The following table shows the security ownership of management in the common shares of the Company as at 
December 31, 2024. 

Name 

Amount and Nature of 
Beneficial Ownership Citizenship 

No. of 
Shares 

% 
Ownership 

Direct Indirect 

Arce, Simeon Jr. A. 47,600,000 6,800,000 Filipino 54,400 25.30% 

Buenaflor, Regina R. 6,800,000 10,200,000 Filipino 17,000 7.90% 

Biron, Ferjenel G. 10,200,000 Filipino 10,200 4.74% 

Perez, Claire B. 10,200,000 Filipino 10,200 4.74% 

Daulo-Lavilla, Meride 6,800,000 Filipino 6,800 3.16% 

Abril, Joanne B. 3,400,000 Filipino 3,400 1.58% 

Conanan-Morato, Marsha 
Lourdes P. 3,400,000 Filipino 3,400 

1.58% 

Debuque, Eileen May B. 3,400,000 Filipino 3,400 1.58% 

Francisco, Nikki James C. 3,400,000 Filipino 3,400 1.58% 

Urbanozo-Ignacio, May 3,400,000 Filipino 3,400 1.58% 

Lavalle, Amado Jr. M. 3,400,000 Filipino 3,400 1.58% 

Villaflor, Agnes Jean M. 3,400,000 Filipino 3,400 1.58% 
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VOTING TRUST HOLDERS OF 5.0% OR MORE 
 
On May 19, 2023 the following investors have entered into a Voting Trust Agreement in favor of Simeon A. Arce, Jr.  with 
address at 1021 Arce Compound, Roxas Ave., Ext. Kalibo, Aklan for a period of Three (3) years increasing his voting 
shares from 3.16% to 22.13 % of the total voting stock. The Securities of Exchange Commission issued a Certificate of 
Filing of Voting Trust Agreement  last January 19, 2024.  
 
Title of Securities    Amount   Name of  Trustors  
 
Common Shares         10   Romeo A. Abayon 
Founder Shares    3,390 
 
Common Shares         20   Ma. Ester L. Alfaro 
Founder Shares    6,780 
 
Common Shares         10   Johnna G. De Jose 
Founder Shares    3,390 
 
Common Shares         10   Marymil B. Dignadice 
Founder Shares    3,390 
 
Common Shares         10   Roel A. Escanillas 
Founder Shares    3,390 
 
Common Shares         10   Edmundo B. Fernandez, Jr. 
Founder Shares    3,390 
 
Common Shares         10   Josefa Roberta A. Magallanes 
Founder Shares    3,390 
 
Common Shares         10   Harriet R. Navarro 
Founder Shares    3,390 
 
Common Shares         10   Ester F. Palma 
Founder Shares    3,390 
 
Common Shares         10   Pauleen M. Sazon 
Founder Shares    3,390 
 
Common Shares         10   Peter Myron Jun O. Torres 
Founder Shares    3,390 
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CHANGES IN CONTROL 

The abovementioned Voting Trust Agreement made Dr. Simeon Arce Jr. obtain substantial voting control of 
22.13% for three years.    

Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 
In the normal course of business, the Company transacts with companies/individuals, which are considered 
related parties. The following were carried out with related parties as at December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. 

Classification Terms and conditions 
Amount of the 

Transaction 
Outstanding 

Balance Year 

Shareholders 2024 Advances from 
shareholders 

Unsecured, 
unguaranteed, 
noninterest-bearing, 
without definite call 
dates, and payable in 
cash or thru debt-
equity conversion or 
future availment of 
stock rights or option 
arrangement 

P97,887,992 P284,394,349 

2023 149,513,267 186,506,357 

2022 -16,018,274 36,993,090 

APMC - Bacolod 2024 Loans payable Unsecured, interest-
bearing, payable in 
installment. 

– – 

2023 15,000,000 – 

2022 – – 

APMC - Bacolod 2024 Borrowing 
costs 

– – 

2023 265,882 – 

2022 – – 
Phil 
Pharmawealth, 
Inc. 

2024 Loans payable 
(Note 13) 

Unsecured, interest-
bearing, payable in 
installment, payable 
after one month from 
execution of the loan 
agreement. 

– – 

2023 173,010,889 47,000,000 

2022 – – 

Phil 
Pharmawealth, 

2024 Borrowing 
costs 

678,603 – 
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Inc. 

2023 4,925,757 – 
Aklan Zion Ventures, 
Inc. 

2024 Loans payable 
(Note 13) 

Unsecured, interest-
bearing, payable in 
installment, payable 
after one month from 
execution of the loan 
agreement. 

– 10,000,000 

2023 10,000,000 10,000,000 

Aklan Zion Ventures, 
Inc. 

2024 Borrowing 
costs 

891,918 – 

2024 83,836 – 
Shareholder 2024 Rent (Notes 17 

and 19) 
Unsecured, 
noninterest-bearing, 
payable monthly 

– – 

2023 – – 

2022 144,000 – 

Identification 
Relationship Business Purpose of Arrangement Commitments 

Shareholders Shareholder Advances from shareholders in support 
of the Company’s hospital building 
construction requirements. 

Acknowledgement 
Receipt 

Directors Shareholder Provided by the Board of Directors, for 
future subscription in case there is an 
increase in the capital stock 

No contract 

ACEMC- 
Bacolod 

Other related party Loans from other related party as 
support for the construction of 
Company’s hospital building. 

Loan agreement 
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Phil Pharmawealth, Inc. Other related party Loans from other related party as 
support for the construction of 
Company’s hospital building and pay-off 
advances used as bridge financing to 
construction. 

Loan agreement 

Aklan Zion Ventures 
Inc. 

Other related party Loans from other related party as 
support for the construction of 
Company’s hospital building and pay-off 
advances used as bridge financing to 
construction and hospital operations. 

Loan agreement 

Aklan Zion Ventures 
Inc. 

Other related party The company leased a space to the 
Company 

Lease contract 

Shareholder Shareholder The shareholder leased a temporary 
office space to the Company 

Lease contract 

 
 
 
 

Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercises significant influence over the other 
party in making financial and operating decisions. Such relationship also exists between and/or 
among entities, which are under common control with the reporting enterprise and its key 
management personnel, directors, or its shareholders. 
In considering each related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the 
relationship, and not merely the legal form. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. 

 
 

PART IV – CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Item 13. Corporate Governance 
 

The Company is committed to a strong corporate governance with transparency and accountability as its hallmarks. 

On 4 July 2021, during its first meeting after the issuance of the Permit to Offer Securities, the Board of Directors 
appointed its Compliance Officer as an initial step in ensuring that it will adhere to the highest standards of good 
governance. The Company submitted its Manual on Corporate Governance on 2 December 2021 which substantially 
adopted all of the recommendations under SEC Memorandum Circular No. 24, Series of 2019, otherwise known as 
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the Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies and Registered Issuers (CG Code for PCs and Rls). 

The minor deviations from the recommendations of the CG Code for PCs and Rls such as the number of Executive 
directors being more than the number of non-executive directors, the Corporate Secretary being a member of the 
Board of Directors, and having three (3) Independent Directors instead of five (5) or one-third of the membership 
were necessitated by the fact that the company is has only commenced operations on 8 December 2023 and there is 
a need for lean manpower through the combination of various roles in some persons and the Company can only afford 
to give per diems for its Independent Directors hence only few were interested. The Company undertakes to be fully 
compliant with the recommendations as soon as practicable.  

Education and training is essential to compliance. To ensure that the Company will fully comply with the adopted 
leading practices on good corporate governance, a program was set in place requiring Directors to undergo SEC 
accredited trainings on corporate governance trainings and other trainings that will optimize Board performance. 
Further, to improve corporate governance of the company, a regular review of the Manual on Governance by the 
Corporate Governance Committee is mandated. 

Part V. EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 

(a) Exhibits
The 2024 Audited Financial Statements is attached as Annex “A” hereto.

(b) Reports on Form 17-C
A summary list of the reports on Form 17-C Filed for the year 2024 is attached as Annex “B”
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ANNEX A 

Page 54 of 123



C S 2 0 1 7 3 9 4 3 7

A S I A P A C I F I C M E D I C A L C E N T E R

( A P M C ) - A K L A N I N C . ( F o r m e r l y

A l l i e d C a r e E x p e r t s ( A C E )

M e d i c a l C e n t e r - A k l a n I n c . )

J U D G E M A R T E L I N O R O A D , B A R A N G A Y

A N D A G A O , K A L I B O , A K L A N

A A F S C R M D

Principal Office ( No./Street/Barangay/City/Town)Province)

COVER SHEET
for

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEC Registration Number

Company Name

Form Type Department requiring the report Secondary License Type, if applicable

COMPANY INFORMATION
Company's Email Address Company's Telephone Number/s Mobile Number

asiapacificmedicalcenter.aklan@yahoo.com 036-268-23-20 +63917-814-6042

No. of Stockholders Annual Meeting Fiscal Year

Simeon A. Arce, Jr. simeonjraa@yahoo.com 036-268-23-20 +63920-910-3907

Month/Day Month/Day

Every 3rd Saturday of April DECEMBER 31

CONTACT PERSON INFORMATION
The designated contact person MUST  be an Officer of the Corporation

Name of Contact Person Email Address Telephone Number/s Mobile Number

Contact Person's Address

2F Aklan Polyclinic and Drugstore Building, Goding Ramos St., Kalibo, Aklan

Note 1: In case of death, resgination or cessation of office of the officer designated as contact person, such incident shall be reported to the

Commission within thirty (30) calendar days from the occurrence thereof with information and complete contact details of the new contact

person designated.

2: All Boxes must be properly and completely filled-up. Failure to do so shall cause the delay in updating the corporation's records with the

Commission and/or non-receipt of Notice of Deficiencies. Further, non-receipt of Notice of Deficiencies shall not excuse the corporation from

liability for its deficiencies.
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ASIA PACIFIC 
MEDICAL CENTER 

AK LAN 
ro,mrtfy. Allltd C-1rt h'ptrts (A<t) W.fdl(.,ll Ctnttr · Akf�n. In<. 

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY 

FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The management of Asia Pacific Medical Center (APMC) - Aklan Inc. (formerly Allied Care 
Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.) is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements including the schedules attached therein, for the years 
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, in accordance with the prescribed financial 
reporting framework indicated therein, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements including the schedules 
attached therein and submits the same to the stockholders. 

Querido Diel & Co., CPAs, the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, have

audited the financial statements of the Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on 
Auditing, and in its report to the stockholders, have expressed its opinion on the fairness of 
presentati upon completion of such audit. 

Dr. erjenel G. Biron 
Chairman of the Board 

. Arce Jr . 

. )/ 
Dr. Jolne B. Abril 
Treasurer 

Signed this 31st day of March 2025 

Judge Martelino Road, Andagao. 
Kalibo, Aklan 

(036) 268-2320

0917-814-6042 

info@apmcaldan.com 

asiapacificmedicalcenter-aklan.com 
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

2024 2023

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash (Notes 2, 3 and 4) P63,113,477 P68,015,190

Receivables (Notes 2, 3, 4 and 5) 92,779,952         2,656,675           

Inventories (Notes 2, 3 and 6) 19,089,796         16,608,851         

Advances to contractors (Notes 2, 3 and 7) 30,038,406         172,873,123       

Prepayments and other current assets (Notes 2, 3 and 8) 14,742,924         72,151,887         

Total Current Assets 219,764,555       332,305,726       

Noncurrent Assets

Property and equipment – net (Notes 2, 3 and 9) 1,926,311,050    1,605,514,142    

Deposits (Notes 2, 3, 4 and 10) 2,517,314           2,517,314           

Total Noncurrent Assets 1,928,828,364    1,608,031,456    

TOTAL ASSETS P2,148,592,919 P1,940,337,182

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts and other payables (Notes 2, 4 and 11) P148,270,100 P138,755,315

Retention payables (Notes 2, 4 and 12) 50,032,254         58,059,427         

Advances from shareholders (Notes 2, 4 and 20) 284,394,349       186,506,357       

Loans payable – current portion (Notes 2, 4 and 13) 41,068,815         84,616,725         

Total Current Liabilities 523,765,518       467,937,824       

Noncurrent Liability

Loans payable – noncurrent (Notes 2, 4 and 13) 1,400,331,881    1,253,783,971    

Total Liabilities 1,924,097,399    1,721,721,795    

Equity

Share capital (Notes 2, 4 and 14) 215,060,000       215,060,000       

Additional paid-in capital (Notes 2 and 4) 236,429,500       228,858,000       

Deficit (Notes 2 and 4) (226,993,980)      (225,302,613)      

Total Equity 224,495,520       218,615,387       

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY P2,148,592,919 P1,940,337,182

 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

2024 2023 2022

GROSS REVENUES (Notes 2 and 15) P780,354,111 P9,623,184 P–

DISCOUNTS AND FREE SERVICES (Note 2)     (111,322,951) (211,533)           –

NET REVENUES 669,031,160     9,411,651         –

COST OF SERVICES (Notes 2 and 16)     (495,527,057) (26,911,718)      –

GROSS PROFIT (LOSS)      173,504,103       (17,500,067) –

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

(Notes 2 and 17)     (153,760,156) (119,818,535)    (17,507,127)      

OTHER INCOME (Notes 2 and 18) 6,508,831         311,577            74,764              

INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS        26,252,778 (137,007,025)    (17,432,363)      

FINANCE COSTS (Notes 2 and 13)       (27,815,643) (17,414,705)      –

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX         (1,562,865) (154,421,730)    (17,432,363)      

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Notes 2 and 21) 128,502            – –

NET LOSS (P1,691,367) (P154,421,730) (P17,432,363)

LOSS PER SHARE (Notes 2 and 22) (P7.86) (P718.04) (P81.06)

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.

There was no other comprehensive income during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024, 2023 AND 2022

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

2024 2023 2022

SHARE CAPITAL (Notes 2, 4 and 14) P215,060,000 P215,060,000 P215,060,000

ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL (Notes 2 and 4) 236,429,500     228,858,000     200,217,500     

DEFICIT (Notes 2 and 4)

  Balance at beginning of year (225,302,613)   (70,880,883)     (53,448,520)     

  Net loss (1,691,367)       (154,421,730)   (17,432,363)     

  Balance at end of year (226,993,980)   (225,302,613)   (70,880,883)     

P224,495,520 P218,615,387 P344,396,617

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024, 2023 AND 2022

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

2024 2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before income tax (P1,562,865) (P154,421,730) (P17,432,363)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation (Notes 9, 16 and 17) 70,781,763       4,578,615         192,393            

Finance costs (Note 13) 27,815,643       17,414,705       –

Interest income (Note 18) (83,710)             (38,996)             (74,764)             

Income (loss) before working capital changes 96,950,831       (132,467,406)    (17,314,734)      

Decrease (increase) in:

Receivables (Note 5) (90,123,277)      (2,608,675)        –

Inventories (Note 6) (2,480,945)        (16,608,851)      –

Prepayments and other current assets (Note 8) 4,444,039         (4,541,297)        (64,270)             

Increase in accounts and other payables (Note 11) 9,514,785         134,079,217     2,192,673         

Net cash generated from (used for) operations 18,305,433       (22,147,012)      (15,186,331)      

Interest received 83,710              38,996              74,764              

Income tax paid (4,462,805)        – –

Interest paid (38,062,736)      (17,414,705)      –

Net cash used in operating activities (24,136,398)      (39,522,721)      (15,111,567)      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Application of (advance) payments to contractors

(Note 7) 142,834,717     (63,175,714)      (77,462,758)      

Application of (advance) payments to suppliers

(Note 8) 67,546,320       (25,585,237)      (41,961,083)      

Retention from (release of) payment to contractors 

(Note 12) (8,027,173)        20,690,583       (2,739,809)        

Payment of deposits (Note 10) – (2,517,314)        –

Finance costs capitalized as property and equipment

(Notes 9 and 13) (24,888,457)      (56,634,529)      –

Additions to property and equipment (Note 9) (366,690,214)    (756,513,386)    (293,075,679)    

Net cash used in investing activities (189,224,807)    (883,735,597)    (415,239,329)    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from loans payable (Notes 13 and 23) 150,000,000     894,411,585     390,000,000     

Proceeds from (payments of) advances

   from stockholders (Notes 20 and 23) 97,887,992       149,513,267     (16,018,274)      

Proceeds from subscription of share capital (Note 14) 7,571,500         28,640,500       80,468,500       

Payments of loans payable (Notes 13 and 23) (47,000,000)      (141,010,889)    (50,000,000)      

Net cash provided by financing activities 208,459,492     931,554,463     404,450,226     

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH (4,901,713)        8,296,145         (25,900,670)      

CASH AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 68,015,190       59,719,045       85,619,715       

CASH AT END OF YEAR P63,113,477 P68,015,190 P59,719,045

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024, 2023 AND 2022

Page 66 of 123



2024 2023 2022

CASH AT END OF YEAR CONSISTS OF:

Cash on hand P448,003 P931,434 P–

Cash in banks 62,665,474       67,083,756       59,719,045       

P63,113,477 P68,015,190 P59,719,045

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

- 2 -
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

1. General Information

2.

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Asia Pacific Medical Center (APMC) - Aklan Inc. (formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center -

Aklan Inc.) [the Company] was registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission

(SEC) on December 6, 2017 to establish, maintain, operate, own and manage hospitals, medical and

related healthcare facilities and businesses such as but without restriction to clinical, laboratories,

diagnostic centers, ambulatory clinics, scientific research and educational institutions and other allied

undertaking and services which shall provide medical, surgical, nursing, therapeutic, paramedic or

similar care, provided that purely professional, medical or surgical services shall be performed by

duly qualified and licensed physicians or surgeons who may or may not be connected with the

hospitals and whose services shall be freely and individually contracted by the patients.

The Company's office address is located at Judge Martelino Road, Barangay Andagao, Kalibo,

Aklan.

The Company's Board of Directors (BOD) and Stockholders representing at least 2/3 of the

outstanding share capital at their respective meetings on June 4, 2020 and June 14, 2020, approved

to change the Company's corporate name from Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan

Inc. to Asia Pacific Medical Center (APMC) - Aklan Inc. On December 3, 2020, the SEC approved

the amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of the Company to change the Company's corporate

name.

The Company has six hundred ninety four (694) and five hundred twelve (512) employees as at

December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The accompanying financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024

were approved and authorized for issue by the BOD on March 23, 2025.

Summary of Material Accounting Policies and Disclosures

Basis of Preparation

The accompanying financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a historical cost

basis, except as otherwise stated. The financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which

is the functional and presentation currency under the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards

(PFRS). All values are rounded to the nearest peso except as otherwise indicated.

Statement of Compliance

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial

Reporting Standards (PFRS). The term PFRS, in general, includes all applicable PFRS, Philippine

Accounting Standards (PAS) and Interpretations issued by former Standing Interpretations

Committee, the Philippine Interpretations Committee and the International Financial Reporting

Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), which have been approved by the Philippine Financial Reporting

Standards Council and adopted by the Philippine SEC.
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





The Company consistently adopted and applied all accounting policies under PFRS which have been

issued and becomes effective except adoption of the following amendments effective beginning

January 1, 2024. Adoption of these amendments to PFRS, PAS and Philippine Interpretations did not

have any significant impact on the Company’s financial position or performance unless otherwise

indicated.

Changes in Accounting Policies

- 2 -

Amendments to PAS 1, "Presentation of Financial Statements – Noncurrent Liabilities with

Covenants "

The amendments clarify how conditions with which an entity must comply within twelve months

after the reporting date affect the classification of a liability. The amendments modify the

requirements introduced by PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of

Liabilities as Current or Noncurrent , on how an entity classifies debt and other financial liabilities

as current or noncurrent in particular circumstances. Only covenants with which an entity is

required to comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of a liability as current

or noncurrent. In addition, an entity has to disclose information in the notes that enables users of

financial statements to understand the risk that noncurrent liabilities with covenants could become

repayable within twelve months.

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to have any significant impact on the financial

statements.

Amendments to PAS 7 and PFRS 7, "Supplier Finance Arrangements "

The disclosure requirements in the amendments enhance the current requirements and are

intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance

arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to have any significant impact on the financial

statements.

Amendments to PAS 16, "Leases – Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback "

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to have any significant impact on the financial

statements.

The amendments specify how a seller-lessee should apply the subsequent measurement

requirements in PFRS 16 to the lease liability that arises in the sale and leaseback transaction.

The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease liabilities arising from a

leaseback in a way that it does not recognize any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the

right of use it retains. The new requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognizing in

profit or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a lease. The amendments also do not

prescribe specific measurement requirements for lease liabilities arising from a leaseback.
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- 3 -

New Accounting Standards, Amendments to Existing Standards and Interpretations

Effective Subsequent to December 31, 2024

The standards, amendments and interpretations which have been issued but not yet effective as at

December 31, 2024 are disclosed below. Except as otherwise indicated, the Company does not

expect the adoption of the applicable new and amended PFRS to have a significant impact on the

financial position or performance.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2025

Amendment to PAS 21, "Lack of Exchangeability "

The amendment is to require an entity to apply a consistent approach to assessing whether a

currency is exchangeable into another currency and, when it is not, to determining the exchange

rate to use and the disclosures to provide.

Amendment to PFRS 17, "Initial Application of PFRS 17 and PFRS 9 – Comparative

Information "*

The amendment is a transition option relating to comparative information about financial assets

presented on initial application of IFRS 17. The amendment is aimed at helping entities to avoid

temporary accounting mismatches between financial assets and insurance contract liabilities, and

therefore improve the usefulness of comparative information for users of financial statements.

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to have any significant impact on the financial

statements.

*On December 15, 2021, the FRSC amended the mandatory effective date of PFRS 17 from January 1, 2023 to January 1,

2025. This is consistent with Circular Letter No. 2020-62 issued by the Insurance Commission which deferred the

implementation of IFRS 17 by two (2) years after its effective date as decided by the IASB.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2026

Amendments to PFRS 9 and PFRS 7, "Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of

Financial Instruments "

The amendments clarify that a financial liability is derecognised on the ‘settlement date’ and

introduce an accounting policy choice to derecognise financial liabilities settled using an electronic

payment system before the settlement date.

Other clarifications include the classification of financial assets with ESG linked features via

additional guidance on the assessment of contingent features. Clarifications have been made to

non-recourse loans and contractually linked instruments.

Additional disclosures are introduced for financial instruments with contingent features and equity

instruments classified at fair value through OCI.
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- 4 -

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2027

PFRS 18, "Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements "

The objective of PFRS 18 is to set out requirements for the presentation and disclosure of

information in general purpose financial statements (financial statements) to help ensure they

provide relevant information that faithfully represents an entity’s assets, liabilities, equity, income

and expenses.

PFRS 19, "Subsidiaries without Public Accountability "

The objective of the Standard is to alleviate the reporting burden for subsidiaries without public

accountability.

Deferred Effectivity

Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, "Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture"

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of

control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The

amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associate or joint

venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3, "Business Combinations ". Any gain or loss

resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that does not constitute a business, however, is

recognized only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture.

On January 13, 2016, the FRSC deferred the original effective date of January 1, 2016 of the said

amendments until the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) completes its broader

review of the research project on equity accounting that may result in the simplification of

accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting for associates and joint

ventures.

These amendments may apply to future transactions of the Company.

Deferment of Implementation of International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

(IFRIC) Agenda Decision on Over Time Transfer of Constructed Goods (PAS 23, "Borrowing 

Cost" ) for the Real Estate Industry

In March 2019, IFRIC published an Agenda Decision on whether borrowing costs can be

capitalized on real estate inventories that are under construction and for which the related

revenue is/will be recognized over time under par. 35 (c) of PFRS 15. IFRIC concluded that

borrowing costs cannot be capitalized for such real estate inventories as they do not meet the

definition of a qualifying asset under PAS 23 considering that these inventories are ready for their

intended sale in their current condition.

On February 21, 2020, the Philippine SEC issued MC No. 4, Series of 2020, providing relief to the

Real Estate Industry by deferring the mandatory implementation of the above IFRIC Agenda

Decision until December 31, 2020. Effective January 2021, the Real Estate Industry will adopt the

IFRIC agenda decision and any subsequent amendments thereto retrospectively or as the SEC

will later prescribe. A real estate company may opt not to avail of the deferral and instead comply

in full with the requirements of the IFRIC agenda decision.
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Current versus Noncurrent Classification

Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;

Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

Expected to be realized within twelve (12) months after the reporting period; or

Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at

least 12 months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as noncurrent.

A liability is current when:

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Company.

It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;

It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

It is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or

There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after

the reporting period.

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position based on current

or noncurrent classification.  An asset is current if:

All other liabilities are classified as noncurrent.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities, if any, are classified as noncurrent assets and liabilities.

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is

based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place

either:

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

- 5 -

The adoption of this amendment is not expected to have any significant impact on the financial

statements since the Company is not in a real estate industry.

No Mandatory Effective Date

PFRS 9, "Financial Instruments (Hedge Accounting and Amendments to PFRS 9, PFRS 7 and

PAS 39)"

The amendments require the inclusion of general hedge accounting model in the notes disclosure

to the financial statements. The amendments allow early adoption of the requirement to present

fair value changes due to own credit on liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss

(FVPL) to be presented in the other comprehensive income.

These amendments are not applicable to the Company and expected not to have an impact on

the financial statements.
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Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants

would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic

best interest.

A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to

generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another

market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are

categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that

is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Financial assets are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the consideration

given. The initial measurement of financial assets, except for those designated at fair value through

profit or loss (FVPL), includes transaction cost.

Financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity or a financial

liability or equity instrument of another entity.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the

Company determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-

assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Initial Recognition

"Day 1" Difference

Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable

current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose

variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the difference between

the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” difference) in profit or loss. In cases where there is no

observable data on inception, the Company deems the transaction price as the best estimate of fair

value and recognizes “Day 1” difference in profit or loss when the inputs become observable or when

the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Company determines the appropriate

method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference. 

Date of Recognition

Financial Instruments

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and

liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the assets or liabilities and the level

of the fair value hierarchy.

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

- 6 -

The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the statements of financial position

when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument. In the case of a

regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is

done using settlement date accounting.

Financial Assets
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Equity Instruments at FVOCI

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s cash, receivables and deposits are classified

under this category.

Debt Instruments at FVOCI

After initial recognition, interest income (calculated using the effective interest rate method), foreign

currency gains or losses and impairment gains or losses of debt instruments measured at FVOCI are

recognized directly in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gains

or losses previously recognized in OCI are classified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification

adjustment.

After initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized

cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is

calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an

integral part of the effective interest rate. Financial assets at amortized cost are included under

current assets if realizability or collectability is within 12 months after the reporting period. Otherwise,

these are classified as noncurrent assets.

The Company classifies its financial assets at initial recognition under the following categories: (a)

financial assets at amortized cost, (b) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income (FVOCI) and ( c) financial assets at FVPL. The classification of a financial asset at initial

recognition largely depends on the Company's business model for managing the asset and its

contractual cash flow characteristics.

For equity instruments that are not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably designate, at initial

recognition, a financial asset to be measured at FVOCI when it meets the definition of equity

instrument under PAS 32, "Financial Instruments: Presentation". This option is available and made

on an instrument by instrument basis.

Classification

- 7 -

Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if both of the following are met:

The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in

order to collect contractual cash flows; and

For debt instruments that are not designated at FVPL under the fair value option, the financial assets

are measured at FVOCI if both of the following conditions are met:

The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting

contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company does not have debt instruments at FVOCI.
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For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial

assets at FVPL, any gain or loss arising from the difference between the previous amortized cost of

the financial asset and fair value is recognized in profit or loss.

Dividends from equity instruments held at FVOCI are recognized in profit or loss when the right to

receive payment is established, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost

of the investment. All other gains or losses from equity instruments are recognized in OCI and

presented in the equity section of the statements of financial position. These fair value changes are

recognized in equity and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods, instead, these

are transferred directly to retained earnings.  

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost category to financial

assets at FVOCI, any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous amortized cost of

the financial asset and fair value is recognized in OCI.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVPL category to financial assets at

amortized cost, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has no financial assets at FVPL.

- 8 -

This category includes debt instruments whose cash flows, based on the assessment at initial

recognition of the assets, are not “solely for payment of principal and interest”, and which are not

held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows or to both

collect contractual cash flows and sell.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at

amortized cost, any gain or loss previously recognized in OCI, and any difference between the new

amortized cost and maturity amount, are amortized to profit or loss over the remaining life of the

investment using the effective interest method. If the financial asset is subsequently impaired, any

gain or loss that has been recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

Reclassification

This category also includes equity instruments which the Company had not irrevocably elected to

classify at FVOCI at initial recognition.

Financial Assets at FVPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortized cost or FVOCI are

classified under this category. Specifically, financial assets at FVPL include financial assets that are

(a) held for trading, (b) designated upon initial recognition at FVPL, or (c) mandatorily required to be

measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the

purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded

derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging

instruments.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company does not have equity instruments at FVOCI.

After initial recognition, financial assets at FVPL are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or

losses arising from the fair valuation of financial assets at FVPL are recognized in profit or loss.

The Company reclassifies its financial assets when, and only when, it changes its business model for

managing those financial assets. The reclassification is applied prospectively from the first day of

the first reporting period following the change in the business model (reclassification date).
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In the case of a financial asset that does not have a fixed maturity, the gain or loss shall be

recognized in profit or loss when the financial asset is sold or disposed. If the financial asset is

subsequently impaired, any previous gain or loss that has been recognized in OCI is reclassified

from equity to profit or loss. 

The right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;

The Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the financial asset, but has assumed an

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through"

arrangement; or

A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial

assets) is derecognized when:

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 30 days

past due unless it is demonstrated that the nonpayment was an administrative oversight rather than

resulting from financial difficulty of the borrower. However, in certain cases, the Company may also

consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the

Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account

any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no

reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Derecognition

Impairment of Financial Assets at Amortized Cost and FVOCI

- 9 -

The Company recognizes an allowance for ECL for all debt instruments not held at FVPL. ECL is

based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and

all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation to the

asset’s original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale

of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

For accounts receivables, the Company has applied the simplified approach and has calculated ECL

based on the lifetime ECL. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its

historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to its customers and the

economic environment.

For other debt instruments measured at amortized cost and FVOCI, the ECL is based on the

12-month ECL, which pertains to the portion of lifetime ECLs that result from default events on a

financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. However, when there

has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the allowance will be based on

the lifetime ECL. When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased

significantly since initial recognition, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the

financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial

instrument as at the date of initial recognition. The Company also considers reasonable and

supportable information, that is available without undue cost or effort, that is indicative of significant

increases in credit risk since initial recognition.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVPL category to financial assets at

FVOCI, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount. Meanwhile,

for a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at

FVPL, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or

loss as a reclassification adjustment at the reclassification date.
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As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s accounts and other payables (except

government payables), retention payables, advances from shareholders and loans payable are

classified under this category.

After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using

the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or

premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Initial Measurement

Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value, which is the fair value of the consideration

received. In case of financial liabilities at amortized costs, the initial measurement is net of any

directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at amortized cost when the substance of the

contractual arrangement results in the Company having an obligation either to deliver cash or

another financial asset to the holder, or to settle the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed

amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial Liabilities

The Company classifies its financial liabilities at initial recognition as either financial liabilities at FVPL

or financial liabilities at amortized cost.

The Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the financial asset and either

(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred

control of the asset.

Classification and Subsequent Measurement

When the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from a financial asset or has

entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all

the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset nor transferred control of the financial asset, 

the financial asset is recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the

financial asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred

financial asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the financial asset and the

maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to repay.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company does not have financial liabilities at FVPL.

- 10 -

Financial liabilities at FVPL

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and

financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of

repurchasing in the near term.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are

designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in PFRS 9 are satisfied. The

Company has not designated any financial liability as at FVPL.
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Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are

potentially unfavorable to the Company; or 

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or

has expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on

substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an

exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a

new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statements of

comprehensive income.

Fair Value Option

The Company may, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial asset or liability that would

otherwise have to be measured at amortized cost or FVOCI to be measured at FVPL if doing so

would eliminate or significantly reduce an accounting mismatch or otherwise results in more relevant

information.

- 11 -

Inventories

Inventories is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The net realizable value of

inventories are the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs

of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The net realizable value of

inventories is the current replacement cost. Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out (FIFO)

method.

Classification of Financial Instrument between Liability and Equity

A financial instrument is classified as liability if it provides for a contractual obligation to:

Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; 

Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.

If the Company does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial

asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability.

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Advances to Contractors

Advances to contractors are downpayments paid to contractors. These are carried at face amount in

the statements of financial position and is liquidated via deduction, on a pro-rate basis from the

contractor's periodic progress billings.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of

financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized

amounts and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related

assets and liabilities are presented gross in the statements of financial position. 
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Property and Equipment No. of years

Hospital building 50

Medical equipment, tools and instruments 10

Hospital furnishings, fixtures and office equipment 5

Transportation equipment 10

Computerization 3

Prepayments and Other Current Assets

Input VAT

Land is stated at cost less impairment in value, if any.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets

as follows:

Construction in progress represents structures under constructions and is stated at cost (includes

cost of construction, machinery and equipment under installation and other related costs).

Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time as the relevant assets are completed and

ready for its intended use.

- 12 -

The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and

method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of

property.

Input VAT represents value-added tax (VAT) paid to suppliers that can be claimed as credit against

the Company's VAT liabilities.

Advances to Suppliers

Advances to suppliers are amounts paid in advance for the purchase of goods and services. These

are carried at face amount in the statements of financial position and are recognized to appropriate

asset account or in profit or loss when the services or materials for which the advances were made

are received and delivered.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, except land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and

amortization and accumulated provision for any impairment in value, if any.

The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and other costs directly

attributable in bringing the assets to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditures incurred after the property have been put into operation, such as repairs and

maintenance, are normally charged to income in the year the costs are incurred. In situations when it

can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future

economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property and equipment

beyond its originally assessed standard of performance and the cost of such item can be measured

reliably, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of the said property and equipment.

Prepaid Interest

Prepaid interest represents advance payment of interest from loans payable but not yet incurred. 

Creditable Withholding Tax

Creditable withholding tax is an amount that is withheld from income payments. This is deducted

from income tax payable.
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Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use and no further

depreciation and amortization are recognized in profit or loss.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic

benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset

(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset) is included in profit and loss in the period the asset is derecognized.

- 13 -

Equity

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets

Share Capital

Share capital is recognized as issued when the share is paid for or subscribed under a binding

subscription agreement and is measured at par value.

The share capital is classified into founders' share and common share.

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes

in the circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

Additional Paid-in Capital

Proceeds and/or fair value considerations received in excess of par value.

Deficit

Deficit includes all current and prior period results of operations as disclosed in the statements of

comprehensive income.

Inventories, property and equipment, advances to contractors, and prepayments and other curernt

assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the

carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit

(CGU) is written down to its recoverable amount. The estimated recoverable amount is the higher of

an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. The fair value less cost to sell is the amount

obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction less the costs of disposal while

value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing

use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. For an asset that does not generate

largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the

asset belongs. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the

asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the

asset. In determining fair value less cost to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These

calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other fair value indicators. Impairment losses

are recognized in the statements of comprehensive income.

Recovery of impairment loss recognized in prior years is recorded on nonfinancial asset when there

is an indication that the impairment loss recognized for the asset no longer exists or has decreased.

The recovery is recorded in the statements of comprehensive income. However, the increased

carrying amount of an asset due to a recovery of an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that

it does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation) had

no impairment loss been recognized for that asset in prior years.
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Interest Income

Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues taking into account the effective yield on the

asset.

Cost and Expenses

Costs and expenses are recognized in the statements of comprehensive income upon utilization of

goods and/or service or at the date these are incurred.

Patient Revenues

The Company also assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as a principal or as

an agent.

- 14 -

Revenue from contract with customers is recognized when the performance obligation in the contract

has been satisfied, either at a point in time or over time. Revenue is recognized over time if one of

the following criteria is met: (a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as

the Company performs its obligations; (b) the Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset

that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or (c) the Company’s performance

does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Company and the Company has an

enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. Otherwise, revenue is recognized

at a point in time.

Other Income

Income from other services are recognized when rendered and when it is probable that the economic

benefits will flow to the Company and the amount can be measured reliably.

Patient revenues are recognized in the period when the services are rendered or when the Company

has delivered to the patient and the patient has accepted the products. In-patient, out-patient and

emergency medical procedures are generally completed in a very short span of time and charges are

captured and billed as of close of day. By the nature of the services, no material performance

obligation will remain uncompleted at each reporting period end, and thus, measuring the progress of

the performance obligation is not considered necessary.

Patient revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from the sale of

services in the ordinary course of the Company's activities, net of VAT (if applicable) and discounts.

Revenue Recognition

The Company often provides discounts and free services to underprivileged patients, senior citizens

and its employees. Discounts and free services are presented within "Discounts and free services"

and deducted from gross revenue in statements of comprehensive income.

The Company classifies the patient revenues as in-patient, out-patient and emergency services.

In-patient, out-patient and emergency revenues are exempted from VAT, except for the sale of drugs

and medicines arising from out-patient services activities which are considered vatable transactions

pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Consolidated Value-Added Tax Regulations of 2005

(Revenue Regulations 16-2005).
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a. the Company has the right to operate the asset; or

b.

Short-term Leases and Leases of Low-Value Assets

Current Income Tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount

expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to

compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting period.

Short-term Employee Benefits

the contract involves an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should

be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If

the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified;

Taxes

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits which fall due within twelve months after the

end of the period in which the employees render the related service. The Company recognizes a

liability net of amounts already paid and an expense for services rendered by employees during the

accounting period. Short-term benefits given by the Company include salaries and wages, social

security contributions, short-term compensated absences, profit sharing and bonuses, and non

monetary benefits. Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days

(including holiday entitlement) remaining at the statements of financial position date. These are

included in salaries and wages account at the undiscounted amount that the Company expects to

pay as a result of the unused entitlement.

Leases

The Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. To assess whether a contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time, the Company assesses

whether, throughout the period of use, it has the following:

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are generally recognized as expense in the year in which these costs are incurred.

However, borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production

of a qualifying asset are capitalized. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the

activities necessary to prepare the asset for intended use are in progress and expenditures and

borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized until the asset is available for its

intended use. It includes interest expense, finance charges in respect of finance leases and

exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that these are regarded

as an adjustment to interest costs.

- 15 -

the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the

asset throughout the period of use; and

the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Company when it has the decision-

making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. The

Company has the right to direct the use of the asset of either:

the Company designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will

be used.

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of office

space (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date

and do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-

value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Deferred Income Tax

- 16 -

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences except: (1) when the

deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and (2) in respect of taxable temporary differences

associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, where the

timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the

temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in

the profit or loss.

Deferred income tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or

loss. Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or

directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists

to offset current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income

taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting period and reduced to the

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of

the deferred tax assets to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each

reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable

profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the

period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have

been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward benefits

of unused net operating loss carry-over (NOLCO) to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit

will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carryforward benefit of

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized except: (1) when the deferred income tax

asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or

liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and (2) in respect of deductible temporary

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures,

deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary

differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting

period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.

Page 83 of 123



Related Parties

Provisions

Contingencies

Loss Per Share

3.

Provisions are recognized when the Company has present obligations, legal or constructive, as a

result of past events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits

will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation. Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the

reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually

certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statements of comprehensive

income, net of any reimbursements. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions

are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the

liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to passage of time is

recognized as interest expense.

Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s financial position at

the end of the reporting period (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Post year-

end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to financial statements when

material.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires management to make

judgments and estimates that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and

liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. The uncertainties inherent in

these judgments and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to

the carrying amount of the assets or liabilities affected in the future years.

- 17 -

A party is considered to be related to the Company if it has the ability, directly or indirectly through

one or more intermediaries, to control, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the

Company; or exercises significant influence over the Company in making financial and operating

decisions; or has a joint control over the Company. It is also related to the Company if a party is an

associate, a joint venture in which the Company is a venturer, a member of the key management

personnel of the Company or its parent, a close member of the family of Company's related party, an

entity controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by a key management personnel of the

Company or close member of the family of Company's related party, and a post-employment benefit

plan for the benefit of employees of the Company or its related party. Related parties may be

individuals or corporate entities. Transactions between related parties are based on terms similar to

those offered to nonrelated parties.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. These are disclosed unless the

possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are

not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to financial statements when

an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss (less preferred dividends net of tax, if any)

for the year attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common

shares outstanding during the year, with retroactive adjustment for any stock dividends or stock splits

declared during the year.

Events After the Reporting Period
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Judgments

a.

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the statements of

financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using internal valuation

techniques using generally accepted market valuation models. The input to these models is taken

from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimates are used in

establishing fair values. These estimates may include considerations of liquidity, volatility and

correlation.

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following

judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognized in the financial statements:

Business Model Assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI and the

business model test. The Company determines the business model at a level that reflects how

groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This

assessment includes judgment reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the

assets is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the performance of the

assets and how these are managed and how the managers of the assets are compensated.

Monitoring is part of the Company's continuous assessment of whether the business model for which

the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate

whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the

classification of those assets.

the ownership of the asset does not transfer at the end of the lease term;

Significant Increase of Credit Risk

Classification of Financial Instruments

The Company reclassifies financial assets when and only when its business model for managing

those assets changes. Financial liabilities are not reclassified.

The Company classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities in the following measurement

categories: i) those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive

income or through profit or loss) and ii) those to be measured at amortized cost. The classification of

financial assets depends on the business model for managing the financial assets and the

contractual terms of the cash flows. Financial liabilities are classified as those to be measured at

amortized cost unless they are designated as those to be measured subsequently at FVPL

(irrevocable election at the time of recognition). For assets and liabilities measured at fair value,

gains and losses are either recorded in profit or loss or OCI.

The Company uses its judgment in determining whether an arrangement contains a lease, based on

the substance of the arrangement at inception date and makes assessment whether the

arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets, the arrangement conveys a right

to use the asset and the arrangement transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to

ownership to the Company.

Determining whether an Agreement Contains a Lease

Operating Lease

The Company has entered into lease arrangements either as a lessor or as a lessee. In determining

whether all significant risks and rewards of ownership remain with the lessor or transferred to the

lessee, the following factors are considered:

- 18 -

Page 85 of 123



b.

c.

d.

The Company adjusts historical default rates to forward-looking default rate by determining the

closely related economic factor affecting each patient segment. The Company regularly reviews the

methodology and assumptions used for estimating ECL to reduce any differences between estimates

and actual credit loss experience.

The key estimates and assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation

uncertainty at reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the financial statements within the next

financial year are discussed as follows:

Estimates and Assumptions

- 19 -

The Company, applying the simplified approach in the computation of ECL, initially uses a provision

matrix based on historical default rates for patient receivables. The provision matrix specifies

provision rates depending on the number of days that patient receivable is past due. The Company

also uses appropriate groupings if its historical credit loss experience shows significantly different

loss patterns for different customer segments. The Company then adjusts the historical credit loss

experience with forward-looking information on the basis of current observable data affecting each

customer segment to reflect the effects of current and forecasted economic conditions. 

Recoverability of Property and Equipment

The carrying value of property and equipment is reviewed and assessed for impairment whenever

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Changes in those assessment and judgment could have a significant effect on the carrying value of

property and equipment and the amount and timing of recorded provision for any period.

Management believes, based on facts and circumstances at December 31, 2024 and 2023, that

there are no indicators that the remaining carrying amount of property and equipment may not be

recoverable.

The determination of the relationship between historical default rates and forecasted economic

conditions is a significant accounting estimate. Accordingly, the provision for ECL on patient

receivables is sensitive to changes in assumptions about forecasted economic conditions. 

Assessment for ECL on Patient Receivables

The Company accounted for its lease arrangements as operating lease (see Note 19).

there is no option to purchase the asset at a price that is expected to be sufficiently lower than the

fair value at the date the option becomes exercisable such that, at the inception of the lease, it is

reasonably certain that the option will be exercised;

the lease term is not for the major part of the economic life of the asset even if title is not

transferred;

the leased assets are not of such specialized nature that only lessee can use them without major

modifications.

Determining the Fair Values of Financial Instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the statements of

financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using valuation

techniques including the discounted cash flows model. The inputs to this model are taken from

observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required

in establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk,

credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair

value of financial instruments.
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





2024 2023

Cash in banks P62,665,474 P67,083,756

Receivables from employees and officers 3,739,514           572,147              

Deposits 2,517,314           2,517,314           

P68,922,302 P70,173,217

Actual or expected external and internal credit rating downgrade;

- 20 -

Assessment for ECL on Other Financial Assets at Amortized Cost

The Company determines the allowance for ECL using general approach based on the probability-

weighted estimate of the present value of all cash shortfalls over the expected life of financial assets

at amortized cost. ECL is provided for credit losses that result from possible default events within the

next 12 months unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition in

which case ECL is provided based on lifetime ECL.

The Company also considers financial assets that are more than 30 days past due to be the latest

point at which lifetime ECL should be recognized unless it can demonstrate that this does not

represent a significant risk in credit risk such as when non-payment was an administrative oversight

rather than resulting from financial difficulty of the borrower.

Existing or forecasted adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions; and

No provision for ECL on patient receivables for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Patient receivables amounted to P89,040,438 and P2,084,528 as at December 31, 2024 and 2023,

respectively (see Note 5).

The Company recognizes impairment on inventories whenever the net realizable value of inventories

becomes lower than cost due to damage, physical deterioration, obsolescence, changes in price

levels or other causes. The impairment is reviewed on a monthly basis to reflect the accurate

valuation in the financial records. Inventory items identified to be obsolete and unusable are also

written off and charged as expense for the period.

Actual or expected significant adverse changes in the operating results of the borrower.

The Company has assessed that the ECL on other financial assets at amortized cost is not material

because the transactions with respect to these financial assets were entered into by the Company

only with reputable banks and companies with good credit standing and relatively low risk of defaults.

Accordingly, no provision for ECL on other financial assets at amortized cost was recognized in 2024

and 2023. The carrying amounts of other financial assets at amortized cost are as follows:

When determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Company considers

reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort and that is

relevant for the particular financial instrument being assessed such as, but not limited to, the

following factors:

Impairment of Inventories

No impairment loss on inventories was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024 and

2023. Inventories amounted to P19,089,796 and P16,608,851 as at December 31, 2024 and 2023,

respectively (see Note 6).
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





2024 2023

Property and equipment P1,926,311,050 P1,605,514,142

Advances to contractors 30,038,406         172,873,123       

Prepayment and other current assets 14,742,924         72,151,887         

P1,971,092,380 P1,850,539,152

Significant changes or planned changes in the use of the assets.

The carrying amount of property and equipment, except land, amounted to P1,832,214,565 and

P1,511,417,657 as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively (see Note 9).

No impairment loss on nonfinancial assets was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2024

and 2023. The carrying amount of nonfinancial assets is as follows:

The recoverable amount of the asset is the greater of the fair value less cost of disposal or value in

use. The fair value less cost of disposal is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an

arm’s-length transaction. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted

to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Significant negative industry or economic trends; and

Fair value estimation of Land and Buildings

In determining the fair value of land and buildings, the Company, through the professional services of

the independent appraisers, utilized a combination of market and cost approach. In market

approach, the value of the land is based on recorded sales and listings (or asking prices) of

comparable property registered within the vicinity. The technique of this approach requires

establishing of comparable property by reducing reasonable comparative sales and listings to a

common denominator. Meanwhile, the value of the buildings and building improvements was arrived

at using the cost approach. Under this approach, an estimate is made of the current cost of

reproduction of the buildings in accordance with the prevailing market prices of materials, labor,

contractor's overhead, profit and fees. Adjustments are then made to reflect depreciation resulting

from physical deterioration and functional or economic obsolescence.

Estimating Useful Lives of Property and Equipment, Except Land

The estimated useful lives used as basis for depreciating the Company’s property and equipment,

excluding land, were determined on the basis of management’s assessment of the period within

which the benefits of these asset items are expected to be realized taking into account actual

historical information on the use of such assets.

- 21 -

The Company assesses impairment on nonfinancial assets whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets or group of assets may not be

recoverable. The relevant factors that the Company considers in deciding whether to perform an

asset impairment review include, among others, the following:

Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is

recognized. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if it is not possible, for the

CGU to which the asset belongs.

Assessment for Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets Other than Inventories

Significant underperformance of a business in relation to expectations;
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4.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Credit Risk

Patient Receivables

In determining the aging bracket of the patient receivables, management also continuously analyze

the historical collection profiles of the different group of guarantors.

The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from the failure on the part of its counterparty in

fulfilling its financial commitments to the Company under the prevailing contractual terms. Financial

instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of other financial

assets at amortized cost.

The Company reviews the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets at each reporting date and

reduces deferred tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will

be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.

For corporate accounts, management has assessed that they are most likely to settle their

obligations within the agreed collection period based on the historical collection profile.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Capital Management

The main purpose of the Company’s financial instruments is to fund its operations. The Company’s

principal financial instruments arising from operations consist of cash, receivables, deposits,

accounts and other payables, retention payables, advances from shareholders and loans payable.

The main risks from the use of financial instruments are credit and liquidity risk.

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets

The carrying amounts of financial assets at amortized costs represent its maximum credit exposure.

For individual patients and government accounts, management has assessed, based on the

historical collection profile, that receivables are collected beyond agreed collection period. This

resulted in generally higher ECL rates applied to outstanding receivables.

The management believes that the Company will not be able to realize the NOLCO in the future. The

Company provided full valuation allowance on its NOLCO, thus no deferred tax asset was

recognized as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The Company does not have foreign currency risk because the Company has no monetary assets

and liabilities denominated in foreign currency both for 2024 and 2023.

To measure the ECL, patient receivables of the Company have been grouped based on shared

credit risk characteristics and days past due. In calculating the ECL rates, the Company considers

historical data. The Company has identified the gross domestic product, consumer price index,

unemployment rate and inflation rate to be the most relevant factors and accordingly adjusted the

historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors.

The Company’s BOD reviews and approves the policies for managing each of these risks and these

are summarized below:

- 22 -
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As at December 31, 2024

Current 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days Over 91 days Total

Government P20,733,199 P20,840,170 P16,661,369 P17,659,320 P75,894,058 

Corporate accounts          1,447,712                      319,241                    217,158                      321,899                   2,306,010 

Private individual

patients          8,189,981                   1,304,015                    686,824                      659,550                 10,840,370 

P30,370,892 P22,463,426 P17,565,351 P18,640,769 P89,040,438 

As at December 31, 2023

Current 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days Over 91 days Total

Government P1,435,944 P– P– P– P1,435,944 

Private individual

patients             648,584 – – –                      648,584 

P2,084,528 P– P– P– P2,084,528 

Other Financial Assets at Amortized Cost







The Company also considers financial assets that are more than 30 days past due to be the latest

point at which lifetime ECL should be recognized unless it can demonstrate that this does not

represent significant credit risk such as when non-payment arising from administrative oversight

rather than resulting from financial difficulty of the borrower.

Age Analysis of Patient Receivables

Actual or expected significant adverse changes in the operating results of the borrower.

The Company’s other financial assets at amortized cost are composed of cash in banks, receivables

from employees and officers and deposits. The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by

investing its cash only with banks that have good credit standing and reputation in the local and

international banking industry. These instruments are graded in the top category by an acceptable

credit rating agency and, therefore, are considered to be low credit risk investments.

When determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Company considers

reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort and that is

relevant for the particular financial instrument being assessed such as, but not limited to, the

following factors:

Existing or forecasted adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions; and

It is the Company’s policy to measure ECL on the above instruments on a 12-month basis. However,

when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be

based on the lifetime ECL.

Age Analysis of Patient Receivables

The Company has only started operations in December 2023 and no allowance for ECL was

provided for patient receivables for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Actual or expected external and internal credit rating downgrade;

The tables below show the exposure to credit risk by type of counterparty as well as the analysis of

age of patient receivables as at December 31, 2024 and 2023:

- 23 -
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12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

– not credit 

impaired

Lifetime ECL

– credit impaired Total

Cash in banks P62,665,474 P– P– P62,665,474 

Receivables from employees

and officers                 3,739,514 – –                 3,739,514 

Deposits –               2,517,314 –                 2,517,314 

P66,404,988 P2,517,314 P– P68,922,302 

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

– not credit 

impaired

Lifetime ECL

– credit impaired Total

Cash in banks P67,083,756 P– P– P67,083,756 

Receivables from employees

and officers                    572,147 – –                    572,147 

Deposits  –               2,517,314 –                 2,517,314 

P67,655,903 P2,517,314 P– P70,173,217 

Liquidity Risk

As at December 31, 2024

On Demand

Within 1 

year 1 to 5 years

More than 5

years Total

Financial liabilities:

P141,717,263  P–  P–  P– P141,717,263 

 –               50,032,254  –  –               50,032,254 

 –             284,394,349  –  –             284,394,349 

 –               41,068,815           679,033,681             721,298,200          1,441,400,696 

P141,717,263 P375,495,418 P679,033,681 P721,298,200 P1,917,544,562 

*Excluding government payables amounting to P5,639,561 as at December 31, 2024.
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December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

Financial asset at amortized cost

Financial asset at amortized cost

Retention payable

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as

of December 31, 2024 and 2023 based on contractual and undiscounted payments.

Accounts and

   other payables*

Advances from

   shareholders

The tables below present the summary of the Company's exposure to credit risk and shows the

credit quality of the assets by indicating whether the assets are subjected to 12-month ECL or

lifetime ECL. Assets that are credit-impaired are separately presented.

To meet the Company's short-term obligations and funding for the construction of its building, the

Company will call for payment of the subscription receivable from the shareholders. Also, the

Company secured from Development Bank of the Philippines a credit line facility on August 19, 2020

as one of its sources in funding the construction of the hospital building.

In the management of liquidity, the Company monitors and maintains a level of cash deemed

adequate by the management to finance the Company’s operations and mitigate the effects of

fluctuations in cash flows.

Loans payable
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On Demand

Within 1 

year 1 to 5 years

More than 5

years Total

Financial assets:

P63,113,477  P–  P–  P– P63,113,477 

     92,779,952  –  –  –               92,779,952 

 –  –  –                 2,517,314                 2,517,314 

P155,893,429  P–  P– P2,517,314 P158,410,743 

As at December 31, 2023

On Demand

Within 1 

year 1 to 5 years

More than 5

years Total

Financial liabilities:

P135,569,571  P–  P–  P– P135,569,571 

 –               58,059,427  –  –               58,059,427 

 –             186,506,357  –  –             186,506,357 

 –               84,616,725           564,111,498             689,672,473          1,338,400,696 

P135,569,571 P329,182,509 P564,111,498 P689,672,473 P1,718,536,051 

Financial assets:

P68,015,190  P–  P–  P– P68,015,190 

       2,656,675  –  –  –                 2,656,675 

 –  –  –                 2,517,314                 2,517,314 

P70,671,865  P–  P– P2,517,314 P73,189,179 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

2024 2023

Financial assets:

Cash P63,113,477 P68,015,190

Accounts and other receivables 92,779,952         2,656,675           

Deposits 2,517,314           2,517,314           

P158,410,743 P73,189,179

Financial liabilities:

Accounts and other payables* P141,717,263 P135,569,571

Retention payable 50,032,254         58,059,427         

Advances from shareholders 284,394,349       186,506,357       

Loans payable 1,441,400,696    1,338,400,696    

P1,917,544,562 P1,718,536,051

Capital Management

Cash

Deposits

Deposits
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Loans payable

Retention payable

Advances from

   shareholders

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy

capital ratios in order to support its business, pay existing obligations and maximize shareholder

value.

The historical cost carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities, except

deposits and noncurrent portion of loans payable, are all subject to normal credit terms, and are

short-term in nature, and approximate their fair values. Details are as follows:

*Excluding government payables amounting to P5,639,561 and P3,185,744 as at December 31, 2024 and 2023,

     respectively.

Accounts and

   other payables*

Receivables

Receivables

*Excluding government payables amounting to P3,185,744 as at December 31, 2023.

Cash
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2024 2023 2022

Share capital P215,060,000 P215,060,000 P215,060,000

Additional paid in capital 236,429,500    228,858,000     200,217,500     

Deficit (226,993,980)  (225,302,613)    (70,880,883)      
P224,495,520 P218,615,387 P344,396,617

5.

2024 2023

Patient receivables P89,040,438 P2,084,528

Receivables from employees and officers 3,739,514         572,147              

P92,779,952 P2,656,675

6.

2024 2023

Pharmaceutical products P10,780,817 P10,803,368

Laboratory and other hospital supplies 8,308,979         5,805,483         

P19,089,796 P16,608,851

7.
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The following table pertains to the account balances the Company considers as its core economic

capital:

Inventories

This account consists of:

Receivables

Patient receivables arise from healthcare, accommodation and other ancillary services which are

generally on a 15-60-day credit term.

Receivables from employees and officers pertain to noninterest-bearing cash advances which are

settled through liquidation.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to patient receivables.

Advances to contractor represents advances for awarded project activity and is liquidated via

deduction, on a pro-rate basis from the contractor's periodic progress billings.

Advances to Contractors

The Company manages capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in

economic conditions. To maintain or adjust capital, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to

shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the

objectives, policies or processes during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The cost of inventories recognized as expense and included in the cost of services amounted to

P138,811,446 in 2024 and P14,458,139 in 2023.

Advances to contractors amounted P30,038,406 and P172,873,123 as at December 31, 2024 and

2023, respectively.

This account consists of:
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8.

2024 2023

Prepaid interest P10,247,093 P–

Creditable withholding tax 4,334,303         –

Input VAT 161,528            4,605,567           

Advances to suppliers – 67,546,320         

P14,742,924 P72,151,887

9.

Reclassification/

2023 Additions Disposal 2024

Cost:

   Land P94,096,485 P– P– P94,096,485

   Hospital building – 1,137,288          960,029,147        961,166,435        

   Construction in progress 1,092,834,019     269,648,194      (960,029,147)       402,453,066        

   Medical equipment, tools

354,559,924        93,245,560        – 447,805,484        

   Hospital furnishings, fixtures

61,509,100          24,139,502        – 85,648,602          

   Transportation equipment 4,474,826            – – 4,474,826            

   Computerization 3,208,600            3,408,127          – 6,616,727            

1,610,682,954     391,578,671      – 2,002,261,625     

   Hospital building – 19,206,509        – 19,206,509          

   Medical equipment, tools

2,954,666            35,259,207        – 38,213,873          

   Hospital furnishings, fixtures

2,087,728            14,776,017        – 16,863,745          

   Transportation equipment 37,290                 447,482             – 484,772               

   Computerization 89,128                 1,092,548          – 1,181,676            

5,168,812            70,781,763        – 75,950,575          

P1,605,514,142 P1,926,311,050

     and office equipment

     and office equipment

Property and Equipment

This account consists of:

Advances to suppliers represents advance payment of medical equipment and furniture, and

software that are not yet delivered.

     and instruments

     and instruments

Net book value

Prepayments and Other Current Assets

This account consists of:
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Accumulated depreciation:
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2022 Additions Disposal 2023

Cost:

   Land P94,096,485 P– P– P94,096,485

   Construction in progress 702,384,661        390,449,358      – 1,092,834,019     

   Medical equipment, tools

– 354,559,924      – 354,559,924        

   Hospital furnishings, fixtures

1,053,893            60,455,207        – 61,509,100          

   Transportation equipment – 4,474,826          – 4,474,826            

   Computerization – 3,208,600          – 3,208,600            

   Leasehold improvements 58,107                 – 58,107                 –

797,593,146        813,147,915      58,107                 1,610,682,954     

   Medical equipment, tools

– 2,954,666          – 2,954,666            

   Hospital furnishings, fixtures

591,165               1,496,563          – 2,087,728            

   Transportation equipment – 37,290               – 37,290                 

   Computerization – 89,128               – 89,128                 

   Leasehold improvements 57,139                 968                    58,107                 –

648,304               4,578,615          58,107                 5,168,812            

P796,944,842 P1,605,514,142

2024 2023 2022

Cost of services P31,675,317 P3,241,929 P–

General and administrative expenses 39,106,446      1,336,686         192,393            

P70,781,763 P4,578,615 P192,393

Beginning 2019, the Company entered into contracts with various contractors and suppliers for the

construction of its hospital building.

     and office equipment

Accumulated depreciation:

Net book value

As at December 31, 2024, total estimated cost to complete the hospital building amounted to P1.5

billion, and construction is estimated to be completed by May 2025.

Construction in progress pertains to building under construction to be used as hospital upon

completion.

     and instruments
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Land pertains to properties located in Kalibo, Aklan with a total area of 9,500 square meters, where

its hospital building is being constructed.

     and office equipment

     and instruments

In 2024, the Company reclassified construction in progress account amounting to P960,029,147 to

hospital building account.

Depreciation were charged as follows;
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Description Progress Report

Civil structural works 100.00%

Site development and auxiliary structures 100.00%

Perimeter fence and road networks 100.00%

Electronics and auxiliary works 100.00%

Electrical works 100.00%

Elevator and escalator 100.00%

Medical gas 99.80%

Mechanical works 98.97%

Plumbing works 96.40%

Architectural and fit out works 94.91%

Fire protection works 93.62%

The terms and conditions of the Mortgage Agreement were as follows:

a) keep the mortgaged property in good condition;

b) pay on time the lawful taxes and assessments of the mortgaged property;

c) insure the mortgaged property;

d)

10.
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Overall percentage of completion of the hospital building is at 98.65% as at December 31, 2024.

Deposits represent refundable deposits from service providers of utilities amounting to P2,517,314

as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and nil as at December 31, 2022.

Deposits

There were no amount of compensations received from any third parties for items of property and

equipment that were impaired, lost or given up.

On November 15, 2021, the Company entered into a Mortgage Agreement with Development Bank

of the Philippines (DBP) for loan and credit accommodations to finance the construction of the

hospital building and acquisition of medical instruments, furniture and appliances. The Mortgage

Agreement is secured by the land together with the building and improvements now existing or which

may thereafter exist thereon.

The carrying amount of the mortgaged property amounted to P1,916,885,945 as at December 31,

2024.

the Company shall not transfer, lease, mortgage or encumber the property, or demolish or make

any alteration without first obtaining the Mortgagee's written consent.

As certified by construction managers, the estimated percentages of completion as at December 31,

2024 are as follows:
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11.

2024 2023

Accounts payable P141,702,417 P135,554,363

SSS/PHIC/HDMF contributions and loans payable 2,647,959           1,620,795           

Withholding tax payable 2,991,602           1,564,949           

Construction bond 568,008              –

Unearned revenue 198,993              –

Advance rent 146,275              –

Other payables 14,846                15,208                

P148,270,100 P138,755,315

12.

This account consists of:

Retention payable refers to the amount withheld by the Company from the contractor's periodic

progress billings as provided for in their respective contract. The amount will be released to the

contractor, net of deductions, if any, upon full completion and final acceptance by the Company.

Retention payable amounted P50,032,254 and P58,059,427 as at December 31, 2024 and 2023,

respectively.

Retention Payable

- 30 -

Accounts and Other Payables

Unearned revenue pertains to downpayment of patients not yet discharged.
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13.

2024 2023

DBP P1,100,000,000 P950,000,000

DBP 331,400,696        331,400,696        

10,000,000          10,000,000          

– 47,000,000          

Total 1,441,400,696     1,338,400,696     

Less current portion 41,068,815          84,616,725          

P1,400,331,881 P1,253,783,971

Borrowing costs incurred from the loan amounted to P27,815,643 in 2024 and P17,414,705 in 2023,

charged as finance cost in the statements of comperehensive income.

Borrowing costs incurred from the loan related to construction of hospital building were capitalized as

part of the construction in progress amounted to P24,888,457 and P56,634,529 in 2024 and 2023,

respectively.

Loans Payable

The Company availed long-term loans in tranches

from DBP. The principal amount is payable on or

before November 29, 2033. The effective interest

rate ranges from 4.50% to 8.00% per annum. In

2024, the bank agreed to change the terms

extending the grace period of quarterly payments

and interest to 8.25%. All loans are secured by the

Company's land together with the building and

improvements now existing or which may thereafter

exist thereon (see Note 9). The loan proceeds were

used to finance the construction of the hospital

building.

The Company availed long-term loans in tranches

from DBP. The principal amount is payable on or

before February 10, 2033. The effective interest

rate ranges from 6.40% to 8.70% per annum. In

2024, the bank agreed to change the terms

extending the grace period of quarterly payments

and interest to 8%. All loans are secured by the

Company's land together with the building and

improvements now existing or which may thereafter

exist thereon (see Note 9). The loan proceeds were

used to finance the hospital machinery and

equipment.

Phil

Pharmawealth,

Inc.

Short-term loans payable after one month from

execution of the loan agreement and bearing an

interest ranges from 4.50% to 8.50% per annum.

The loan proceed was used to finance the

construction of the hospital building and pay-off

advances used as bridge financing to construction.

Aklan Zion 

Ventures Inc.

Short-term loans payable after one month from

execution of the loan agreement and bearing an

interest of 8.50% per annum. The loan proceed was

used to finance the construction of the hospital

building and pay-off advances used as bridge

financing to construction.

- 31 -
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14.

2024 2023 2022

Authorized share capital

600 founders' shares at P1,000 par value P600,000 P600,000 P600,000

239,400 common shares

   at P1,000 par value 239,400,000     239,400,000       239,400,000       

P240,000,000 P240,000,000 P240,000,000

Subscribed

600 founders' shares at P1,000 par value P600,000 P600,000 P600,000

Balance at beginning – 214,460 

   common shares in 2024 and 2023,

   and 209,800 common shares in 2022 214,460,000     214,460,000       209,800,000       

Current year subscription – 4,660

   common shares in 2022 – – 4,660,000           

Balance at end of year – 214,460 

   common shares 214,460,000     214,460,000       214,460,000       

P215,060,000 P215,060,000 P215,060,000

June 24, 2021

June 24, 2021

June 24, 2021

*10 shares per block

15.

2024 2023 2022

In-patient and out-patient P730,450,497 P7,750,984 P–

Emergency 36,791,837       426,538              –

Pharmacy 13,111,777       1,445,662           –

P780,354,111 P9,623,184 P–

The Company's revenue substantially comprises of services whose revenues are recognized over

time within the fulfillment of services which is one (1) day for emergency and out-patient services and

an average of six (6) days for in-patient services.

This account consists of:

Gross Revenues

300,000

- 32 -

1,200

Date of Registration Number of Blocks Licensed* Issue/Offer Price Per Block

On January 26, 2021, the Company applied with the SEC for the registration of its 35,420 common

shares to be sold at 10 shares per block which is equivalent to 3,542 blocks. The application was

approved on June 24, 2021.

Below are the details of registered common shares:

Share Capital

1,942 P250,000

350,000

This account consists of:

400

The founders' share has the exclusive right to vote and be voted upon in the election of directors for

a limited period not to exceed five (5) years.
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16.

2024 2023 2022

Professional fees P185,433,563 P1,762,624 P–

Drugs, medicines and supplies 138,811,446     14,458,139         –

Salaries and wages 113,270,254     5,698,968           –

Depreciation (Note 9) 31,675,317       3,241,929           –

Utilities 15,680,289       1,024,733           –

SSS/PHIC/HDMF contributions 7,011,785         725,325              –

Outside services 611,911            – –

Others 3,032,492         – –

P495,527,057 P26,911,718 P–

17.

2024 2023 2022

Salaries and wages (Note 20) P42,773,051 P78,096,823 P9,329,976

Depreciation (Note 9) 39,106,446       1,336,686           192,393              

Utilities 24,912,210       8,428,131           59,828                

Professional fees 18,345,097       1,213,582           557,650              

SSS/PHIC/HDMF contributions 9,233,780         7,545,708           43,088                

Outside services 4,334,804         1,171,847           62,780                

Honorarium (Note 20) 3,362,000         1,461,000           3,444,200           

Taxes and licenses 2,811,933         10,346,173         3,077,629           

Office supplies 2,621,836         43,704                119,946              

Insurance 1,001,601         1,551,974           –

Trainings and seminars 774,694            3,135,027           38,475                

Fuel and oil 741,195            1,797,826           –

Representation 376,493            218,522              –

Meetings and conferences 281,524            1,392,225           127,606              

Subscription 278,997            317,022              –

Repairs and maintenance 277,063            68,423                –

Advertising 170,664            637,850              55,930                

Transportation and travel 97,641              306,297              21,031                

Rent (Notes 19 and 20) – 180,000              144,000              

Donation – – 16,300                

Miscellaneous 2,259,127         569,715              216,295              

P153,760,156 P119,818,535 P17,507,127

General and Administrative Expenses

- 33 -

This account consists of:

Cost of Services

This account consists of:
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18.

2024 2023 2022

Canteen P4,787,124 P271,668 P–

Rent income 1,133,316         – –

Common usage 294,036            – –

Interest income 83,710              38,996                74,764                

Others 210,645            913                     –

P6,508,831 P311,577 P74,764

19.

20.

Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly through

one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercises significant influence over the other party in

making financial and operating decisions. Such relationship also exists between and/or among

entities, which are under common control with the reporting enterprise and its key management

personnel, directors, or its shareholders.

In considering each related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the

relationship, and not merely the legal form. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities.

Lease Agreement

- 34 -

The Company entered into a contract of lease with a shareholder, where its office space is located.

The office space is a temporary office leased to the Company, commencing on February 28, 2018.

The Company pays monthly rent of P12,000. The lease contract was terminated in October 2023.

As at December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company has no outstanding commitments under

non-cancellable operating leases.

The Company as a Lessor

The Company has various non-cancellable agreements for leases of clinics and commercial spaces

located within the Hospital to doctors and concessionaires for a period of not more than 1 year and

with renewal options for another year as mutually agreed by both parties. Advance rent from these

lease agreements amounted to P146,275 as at December 31, 2024 which is presented as part of

accounts and other payables in the statements of financial position.

Rent income arising from these lease agreements amounted to P1,133,316 in 2024 and nil in 2023

and 2022 (see Note 18).

Rent expense charged to operations amounted to nil in 2024, P180,000 in 2023 and P144,000 in

2022 (see Note 17).

The Company as a Lessee

Other Income

This account consists of:

Related Party Disclosures
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Year

2024 P97,887,992 P284,394,349

2023 149,513,267            186,506,357            

2022 (16,018,274)             36,993,090              

2024 – –

2023 15,000,000              –

2022 – –

2024 – –

2023 265,882                   –

2022 – –

2024 Loans payable

(Note 13)

– –

2023 173,010,889            47,000,000              

2022 – –

2024 Borrowing costs 678,603                   –

2023 4,925,757                –

2024 Loans payable

(Note 13)

– 10,000,000              

2023 10,000,000              10,000,000              

2024 Borrowing costs 891,918                   –

2024 83,836                     –

2024 – –

2023 – –

2022 144,000                   –

Unsecured, interest-

bearing, payable in 

installment, payable 

after one month 

from execution of 

the loan 

agreement.

Phil

Pharmawealth,

Inc.

Phil

Pharmawealth,

Shareholder

Aklan Zion Ventures, 

Inc.

Unsecured, interest-

bearing, payable in 

installment, payable 

after one month 

from execution of 

the loan 

agreement.

Aklan Zion Ventures, 

Inc.

Loans payable

Unsecured, 

unguaranteed,  

noninterest-

bearing, without 

definite call dates, 

and payable in 

cash or thru debt-

equity conversion 

or future availment 

of stock rights or 

option arrangement

Shareholders Advances from 

shareholders

Amount of the 

Transaction

Unsecured, interest-

bearing, payable in 

installment.

Classification

Unsecured, 

noninterest-

bearing, payable 

monthly

- 35 -

Rent (Notes 17 and 

19)

APMC - Bacolod

The following are the details of related party transactions:

Terms and 

conditions

Borrowing costs

Outstanding Balance

APMC - Bacolod
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Relationship Commitments

Shareholder  Acknowledgement

receipt 

Other related party Loan agreement

Other related party Loan agreement

Other related party Loan agreement

Shareholder  Lease contract

(Note 13) 

2024 2023 2022

Honorarium P3,362,000 P1,461,000 P3,444,200

Salaries and wages 6,943,625         7,306,480           8,731,884           

Professional fee 61,665,497       1,100,054           –

P71,971,122 P9,867,534 P12,176,084

21.







- 36 -

Business Purpose of ArrangementIdentification

Compensation of Key Management Personnel

Advances from shareholders in support 

for the Company's hospital building 

construction requirements.

The following are other relevant related party disclosures:

Income Tax

Aklan Zion Ventures, Inc. Loans from other related party as support 

for the construction of Company's hospital 

building and pay-off advances used as 

bridge financing to construction.

The summary of compensation of key management personnel of the Company are as follows:

The BOI registered project activity of the Company is entitled to the following incentives:

six (6) years income tax holiday (ITH);

followed by five (5) years of enhanced deductions from the actual start of commercial operation;

and;

eleven (11) years duty exemption on importations.

The Company started its commercial operation in December 2023.

The Company is registered with the Board of Invetments (BOI) as a New Operator of General

Hospital Level 2 under Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises Act (R.A. 11534) and

the Omnibus Investments Code of 1987 (Executive Order No. 226) on October 23, 2023.

Shareholders

Phil Pharmawealth, Inc. Loans from other related party as support 

for the construction of Company's hospital 

building and pay-off advances used as 

bridge financing to construction.

APMC - Bacolod Loans from other related party as support 

for the construction of Company's hospital 

building.

The current provision for income tax represents MCIT.

Shareholder The shareholder leased a temporary 

office space to the Company.
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2024 2023 2022

Net revenues P– P9,411,651 P–

Cost of services – (26,911,718)        –

Loss – (17,500,067)        –

Other income 6,425,121         272,581              –

Taxable income (loss) P6,425,121 (P17,227,486) P–

Tax due at 2% in 2024, 1.5% in 2023

and 1% in 2022 P128,502 P– P–

2024 2023 2022

Tax at applicable statutory income tax rate (P390,716) (P38,605,433) (P4,358,091)

Adjustments for:

Change in unrecognized deferred tax asset 128,502            38,582,324         4,376,782           

Nondeductible finance costs 5,232                2,437                  –

Nondeductible representation – 30,420                –

Interest income subjected to final tax (20,928)             (9,748)                 (18,691)               

Effect of tax relief availment 2,012,692         – –

Application of NOLCO (1,606,280)        – –

P128,502 P– P–

Applied/ Remaining

Dates Incurred Amount Expired Balance Expiry Dates

NOLCO
December 31, 2022 P17,507,127 P– P17,507,127 2025

MCIT
December 31, 2024 P128,502 P– P128,502 2027

Applied/ Remaining

Dates Incurred Amount Expired Balance Expiry Dates

December 31, 2021 P24,642,317 P– P24,642,317 2026

December 31, 2020 10,637,799       6,425,121        17,062,920       2025

P35,280,116 P6,425,121 P41,705,237

As at December 31, 2024, the Company has NOLCO in taxable years 2021 and 2020 which can be

carried forward as a deduction for the next five consecutive taxable years immediately following the

year of such loss, pursuant to the Bayanihan to Recover As One Act.  Details are as follows:

The management believes that the Company will not be able to realize the NOLCO in the future. The

Company provided full valuation allowance on its NOLCO, thus no deferred tax asset was set up.

The following are the computations of MCIT:

- 37 -

The reconciliation of the tax computed at statutory tax rate to provision for income tax follow:

As at December 31, 2024, the Company has NOLCO and MCIT for taxable years 2024 and 2022

which can be carried forward as a deduction on taxable income and income tax liability, respectively,

for the next three consecutive taxable years immediately following the year of such loss, under

certain conditions, as provided under Section 34(D) of the Tax Code.  Details are as follows:
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2024 2023

NOLCO P11,590,531 P13,196,811

MCIT 128,502            –

11,719,033       13,196,811       

Less valuation allowance 11,719,033       13,196,811       

P– P–

22.

2024 2023 2022

Net loss (P1,691,367) (P154,421,730) (P17,432,363)

Weighted average number 

of shares outstanding 215,060            215,060              215,060              

Basic loss per share (P7.86) (P718.04) (P81.06)

23.

Noncash

financing 

2023 Cash flows information 2024

Advances from shareholders P186,506,357 P97,887,992 P– P284,394,349

Loans payable 1,338,400,696     103,000,000      – 1,441,400,696     

P1,524,907,053 P200,887,992 P– P1,725,795,045

Noncash

financing 

2022 Cash flows information 2023

Advances from shareholders P36,993,090 P149,513,267 P– P186,506,357

Loans payable 585,000,000        753,400,696      – 1,338,400,696     

P621,993,090 P902,913,963 P– P1,524,907,053

Noncash

financing 

2021 Cash flows information 2022

Advances from shareholders P53,011,364 (P16,018,274) P– P36,993,090

Loans payable 245,000,000        340,000,000      – 585,000,000        

P298,011,364 P323,981,726 P– P621,993,090

The following tables summarize the changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

Basic loss per share is computed as follows:

Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

There were no common stock equivalents outstanding that would require calculation of diluted

earnings per share.

Loss Per Share

- 38 -

The components of the Company's unrecognized deferred tax assets account are as follows:
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24.

25.

Revenue Regulation 15-2010

VAT Output Tax

The amount of VAT output claimed are as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Vatable sales P276,453,864 P7,254,659 P–

Rate 12% 12% 12%

VAT output declared P33,174,464 P870,559 P–

Exempt sales P399,002,418 P734,051 P–

VAT Input Tax

The amount of VAT input claimed are as follows:

2024 2023 2022

Balance at beginning of period P4,605,567 P– P–

Current year domestic purchases/payments and importations for:

Services 17,197,379       1,455,773           –

Capital goods exceeding P1 million 1,529,499         3,912,390           –

Capital goods not exceeding P1 million 390,814            107,963              –

Goods other than capital goods 9,600,405         – –

Additional during the year 28,718,097       – –

Add input tax on sale to government 12,328              

Add deferred input VAT from previous year – – –

Less deferred input VAT to be carried 

to succeeding periods – – –

Total available input tax 33,335,992       5,476,126           –

Less application against VAT output 33,174,464       870,559              –

Balance at end of year P161,528 P4,605,567 P–

Taxes on Importation

The Company does not have importation, hence no customs duties in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Excise Tax

Supplemental Information Required Under Revenue Regulations 15-2010 and 19-2011

On November 25, 2010, the BIR issued Revenue Regulation (RR) 15-2010, which requires certain

information on taxes, duties and license fees paid or accrued during the taxable year to be disclosed

as part of the notes to financial statements. These supplemental information, which are additions to

the disclosures required under PFRS, are presented as follows:

No events occurred between the statements of financial position date and the date on which these

financial statements were approved by the Company's Board of Directors that would require

adjustments to or disclosure in the financial statements.

The Company does not have excise tax in 2024, 2023 and 2022 since it does not have any

transactions which are subject to excise tax.

- 39 -

Events After the End of the Reporting Period
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Documentary Stamp Tax

Taxes and Licenses

2024 2023 2022

Documentary stamp tax P1,126,380 P8,118,355 P2,985,300

License renewal 121,728           – –

Real property tax 64,270             64,270              72,304              

Land registration authority – 745,066            –

DOH license to operate – 165,295            –

SEC filing fees – 18,944              20,025              

Business permits 4,999               15,651              –

Others 1,494,556        1,218,592         –
P2,811,933 P10,346,173 P3,077,629

Withholding Taxes

2024 2023 2022

Creditable – at source P22,971,339 P10,681,605 P5,775,188

Withholding taxes on compensation 2,158,817        831,139            1,176,350         
P25,130,156 P11,512,744 P6,951,538

Deficiency Tax Assessment

Revenue Regulation 19-2011

Revenue

Exempt RCIT

In-patient and out-patient P730,450,497 P–

Emergency 36,791,837         –

Pharmacy 13,111,777         –

Discounts and free services (111,322,951)      –

P669,031,160 P–

The Company does not have any deficiency tax assessments with BIR or tax cases outstanding or

pending in courts or bodies outside of the BIR as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Revenue Regulation No. 19-2011 was issued to prescribe the new BIR forms that will be used for

Income Tax filing covering and starting with December 31, 2011, and to modify Revenue

Memorandum Circular No. 57-2011 dated November 25, 2011.

The following are the schedules prescribed under existing revenue issuances applicable to the

Company as of December 31, 2024:

The Company paid documentary stamp tax (DST) in 2024, 2023 and 2022 amounting to P1,126,380,

P8,118,355 and P2,985,300, respectively, for issuance of share capital and availment of loan.

The details of taxes and licenses included in expenses are as follows:

The following are the amounts of withholding taxes:

- 40 -
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Cost of Services

Exempt RCIT

Professional fees P185,433,563 P–

Drugs, medicines and supplies 138,811,446       –

Salaries and wages 113,270,254       –

Depreciation 31,675,317         –

Utilities 15,680,289         –

SSS/PHIC/HDMF contributions 7,011,785           –

Outside services 611,911              –

Others 3,032,492           –

P495,527,057 P–

Non-operating and Taxable Other Income

Exempt RCIT

Canteen P– P4,787,124

Rent income – 1,133,316           

Common usage – 294,036              

Others – 210,645              

P– P6,425,121

Itemized Deductions

Exempt RCIT

Salaries and wages P42,773,051 P–

Depreciation 39,106,446         –

Finance costs 27,794,715         –

Utilities 24,912,210         –

Professional fees 18,345,097         –

SSS/PhilHealth/HDMF contributions 9,233,780           –

Outside services 4,334,804           –

Honorarium 3,362,000           –

Taxes and licenses 2,811,933           –

Office supplies 2,621,836           –

Insurance 1,001,601           –

Trainings and seminars 774,694              –

Fuel and oil 741,195              –

Representation 376,493              –

Meetings and conferences 281,524              –

Subscription 278,997              –

Repairs and maintenance 277,063              –

Advertising 170,664              –

Transportation and travel 97,641                –

Miscellaneous 2,259,127           –

P181,554,871 P–

Details of the Company's itemized deductions for the year are as follows:

- 41 -
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Taxes and Licenses

Exempt RCIT

Documentary stamp tax P1,126,380 P–

License renewal 121,728              –

Real property tax 64,270                –

Business permits 4,999                  –

Others 1,494,556           –

P2,811,933 P–

- 42 -

Taxes, fees and charges presented as part of "Genereal and Administrative Expenses" account in

the Company's statements of comprehensive income include the following:
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

Schedule A – Financial Assets

December 31, 2024

Name of Issuing Entity and 

Association of

Each Issue

Number of 

Shares

or Principal

Amounts of 

Bonds

and Notes

Amount

Shown in the

Statement of 

Financial 

Position

Value based

on Market

Quotations at 

End of Reporting

Period

Income

Received and

Accrued

Cash
Cash in banks Not applicable P62,665,474 Not applicable P83,710

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.

Page 111 of 123



(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

December 31, 2024

Name and 

Designation

of Debtor

Balance at 

Beginning 

of Period Additions

Amounts 

Collected

Amounts 

Written Off Current Not Current

Balance at 

End of Period

Employees P572,147 P4,179,437 P1,012,070 P– P3,739,514 P– P3,739,514

Schedule B – Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties,

and Principal Stockholders (Other than Related Parties)

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

December 31, 2024

Name and 

Designation

of Debtor

Balance at 

Beginning 

of Period Additions

Amounts 

Collected

Amounts 

Written Off Current Not Current

Balance at 

End of 

Period

Schedule C – Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are

 Eliminated during the Consolidation of Financial Statements

Not applicable

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

December 31, 2024

Title of Issue and Type 

of Obligation

Amount Authorized by 

Indenture

Amount shown under 

caption "Current portion 

of long-term debt" in 

related Statement of 

Financial Position

Amount shown under 

caption "Long-Term 

Debt" in related 

Statement of Financial 

Position

Term Loan P1,441,400,696 P41,068,815 P1,400,331,881

(payable in 32 quarterly 

payments for 8 years 

beginning February 28, 

2026 to November 29, 

2033 with interest rate 

of 8.25% per annum for 

loans availed for the 

construction of hospital 

building and (payable in 

35 quarterly payments 

for 9 years beginning 

May 10, 2025 to 

February 10, 2033 with 

interest rate of 8% per 

annum for loans availed 

for the purchase of 

machineries)

Schedule D – Long Term Debt

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

December 31, 2024

Name of related party Balance at Beginning of Period Balance at End of Period

Schedule E – Indebtedness to Related Parties (Long-Term Loans from Related Companies)

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.

Not applicable
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

December 31, 2024

Name of Issuing 

Entity of Securities 

Guaranteed by the 

Company for which 

this Statement is 

Filed

Title of issue of 

each Class of 

Securities 

Guaranteed

Total Amount 

Guaranteed and 

Outstanding

Amount Owned by 

Person for which 

Statement is Filed

Nature of 

Guarantee

Schedule F – Guarantees of Securities and Other Issues

Not applicable

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

December 31, 2024

Related 

Parties

Directors,

Officers and

Employees Others

Founder 600 600 – – 400 200

Common 239,400 214,460 – – 125,410 89,050

240,000 215,060 – – 125,810 89,250

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.

Schedule G – Capital Stock

Title of 

Issue

Number of

Shares

Authorized

Number of 

Shares

Issued and

Outstanding 

under related 

Statement of 

Financial 

Position 

caption

Number of 

Shares

Reserved for

Options,

Warrants,

Conversions, 

and Other 

Rights

Number of Shares Held By

Page 117 of 123



(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

MAP OF THE RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN AND AMONG THE COMPANIES IN

THE GROUP, ITS ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY AND CO-SUBSIDIARIES
DECEMBER 31, 2024

Not Applicable

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.
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EXPLANATION ON NON- APPLICABILITY OF CONGLOMERATE MAP 

Asia Pacific Medical Center- Aklan, Inc., Asia Pacific Medical Center-Bacolod, 
Inc. and Asia Pacific Medical Center - Iloilo, Inc. are not affiliate companies 
nor sister companies because they do not operate under one parent 
company. They are related only because the Chairman of the 
three companies, Dr. Ferjenel G. Biron, is one and the same person and 
they have interlocking directors, shareholders and common 
officers.

The following are the shares of these interlocking directors/ stockholders 
of the three corporations :

Name of 
Stockholder 

Percentage of 
Ownership and 

Position in APMC 
Aklan 

Percentage of 
Ownership and 

Position in APMC 
Bacolod 

Percentage of 
Ownership and 

Position in APMC 
Iloilo 

Biron, Ferjenel G. 4.74%/ Chairman 8.22%/ Chairman 19.97%/ Chairman 
Biron, Bryant Paul Q. 1.95% 1.61% 8.81% 
Biron, Brandt Luke Q. 7.16% 1.61% 9.13% 
Biron, Braeden John 
Q. 1.95% 1.61% 8.81% 
Barrameda, Romulo 
S. 1.58% None 0.79% 

Comuelo, Jerusha A. 1.58%/ Independent 
Director 0.76% 1.44%/Independent 

Director 
Lavilla, Meride D. 3.16%/ Director 10.09%/ Director 1.53%/ Director 
Lavalle Jr., Amado M. 1.58% 2.38% 1.55%/ President 
Minerva, Ike T. 1.58% 2.31% 1.42% 

Regozo, Danilo C. 1.58%/ Director 2.85%/ Executive 
Vice President 

1.55%/. Executive 
Vice President 

Villaflor, Agnes Jean 
M. 1.58% 0.76% 1.57%/ Director 
Fernandez, Lemuel T. 1.58% None 0.81% 
Ramirez, Ruben B. 1.58% None 2.47% 
Samoro, Fredilyn G. 1.58% None 2.84% 
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR

DIVIDEND DECLARATION
DECEMBER 31, 2024

Deficit, beginning (P225,302,613)

Net loss during the period (1,691,367) 

DEFICIT, END (P226,993,980)

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

Schedule of Financial Soundness Indicators
December 31, 2024 and 2023

Ratio Formula 2024 2023

Current Assets

Current Liabilities

Current Assets – Prepayments

Current Liabilities

Net Income + Depreciation 

Total Liabilities

Total Liabilities

 Total Equity

Total Assets

 Total Equity

Operating EBITDA

Net Interest

Net Income

Average Total Assets

Net Income

Average Total Equity

Net Income

 Total Revenue

Operating EBITDA

Net Revenue

 Operating EBITDA 

margin 
14.49% -1407%

Return on equity -0.76% -54.86%

Net profit margin -0.25% -1641%

Interest rate coverage

ratio
-3.50:1 -7.62:1

Return on assets -0.08% -10.47%

Debt-to-equity ratio 8.57:1 7.88:1

Asset-to-equity ratio 9.57:1 8.88:1

Acid test ratio 0.33:1 0.19:1

Solvency ratio 0.04:1 -0.09:1

Current ratio 0.42:1 0.71:1

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.
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(Formerly Allied Care Experts (ACE) Medical Center - Aklan Inc.)

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR FEE-RELATED

INFORMATION
DECEMBER 31, 2024

2024 2023

AUDIT FEES

Audit fee year-end audit P360,000 P360,000

Interim audit 360,000 –

720,000 360,000 

NON-AUDIT FEES – –

TOTAL AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES P720,000 P360,000

AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES OF OTHER RELATED ENTITIES

AUDIT FEES

Audit fee year-end audit P125,000 P125,000

Interim audit 125,000 –

250,000 125,000 

NON-AUDIT FEES – –

TOTAL AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES

OF OTHER RELATED ENTITIES P250,000 P125,000

ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) - AKLAN INC.
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ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) – AKLAN INC. 

2024 17-C Submissions 

January 2, 2024 

- Promotion / Appointment of Officers and Amendment of By-laws

February 23, 2024 

- Appointment of Chief of Clinics and resignation of Independent Director of Dr. Mary Karen Veronica R.
ICamina; Resignation of Mr. Bonnie Vee S. Dela Torre as Internal Audit and Replacement; Postponement of
Stockholders’ Meeting according to the by-laws; Appointment of Executive Officers and their Professional
Experience

March 7, 2024 

- Postponement of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting according to the by-laws

March 27, 2024 

- Resignation of Officer

May 3, 2024 

- Resignation of Ms. Yehlen A. Dela Cruz Internal Audit Head and Appointment; Appointment of Executive
Officers and their Professional Experience

June 19, 2024 

- Appointment of Directors and Officers

September 6, 2024 

- Resignation of Officers and Appointment of Replacement; Professional Experience

ANNEX B

Page 123 of 123


	ITEM I – BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION
	BUSINESS OF THE ISSUER
	Level 2 Hospital
	Asia Pacific Medical Center – Aklan Inc. is a Level 2 Hospital. Under the Rules and Regulations Governing the New Classification of Hospitals and Other Health Facilities in the Philippines (Effective: August 18, 2012), the following are the minimum re...
	A Level 2 Hospital shall have as minimum, all of Level l capacity 2 , including, but not limited to, the following:
	1. An organized staff of qualified and. competent personnel with Chief of Hospital/Medical Director and appropriate board-certified Clinical Department Heads;
	2. Departmentalized and equipped with the service capabilities needed to support board certified/eligible medical specialists and other licensed physicians rendering services in the specialties of Medicine, Pediatrics, Obstetrics and Gynecology, Surge...
	3. Provision for Intensive Care Units-- Medical ICU, Surgical ICU and Coronary Care Unit for critically ill patients.
	4. Provision for PICU (Pediatric Intensive Care Unit) and NICU (Neonatal Intensive Care Unit)
	5. Provision for HRPU (High Risk Pregnancy Unit)
	6. Provision for respiratory therapy services;
	7. A DOH licensed tertiary clinical laboratory;
	8. A DOH licensed level 2 imaging facility with mobile x-ray inside the institution and with capability for contrast examinations.

	COMPETITION
	EMPLOYEES
	MEDICAL SPECIALISTS
	TRADEMARKS
	GOVERNMENT APPROVAL
	EXISTING OR PROBABLE GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS ON THE BUSINESS
	CREATE ACT
	THE DATA PRIVACY ACT
	THE UNIVERSAL HEALTH CARE ACT
	THE FOOD SAFETY ACT of 2013

	ANTI HOSPITAL DEPOSIT LAW
	THE FOODS, DRUGS AND DEVICES, AND COSMETICS ACT
	RA 9439
	COVID 19 LAWS AND OTHER POLICIES
	DEPARTMENT CIRCULAR NO. 2022-0108
	ENVIRONMENT-RELATED LAWS
	TAXATION
	SENIOR CITIZENS ACT
	MAGNA CARTA FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITY
	MAXIMUM RETAIL PRICES FOR DRUGS AND MEDICINES
	EXPANDED MATERNITY ACT
	NATIONAL INTEGRATED CANCER CONTROL LAW
	COST AND EFFECTS OF COMPLIANCE WITH ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS
	MAJOR RISKS
	1. OPERATIONAL RISKS
	2. CLINICAL PATIENT SAFETY
	3. STRATEGIC RISKS
	4. FINANCIAL RISKS
	5. HUMAN CAPITAL RISKS
	6. LEGAL/REGULATORY RISKS
	7. TECHNOLOGY RISKS
	ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES
	SUPPLIERS AND MAJOR CONTRACTORS
	The Company’s primary suppliers of medicines are, medical supplies and medical equipment are as follows:

	TRANSACTIONS WITH AND/OR DEPENDENCE ON RELATED PARTIES
	LEGAL PROCEEDINGS OF COMPANY, ITS SUBSIDIARIES AND/OR AFFILIATES
	Item 3. Legal Proceedings
	Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

	PART II – OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	Item 5. Market Price on of and Dividends in Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.
	B. Holders
	C. Dividends
	D. Recent Sale of Unregistered or Exempt Securities, Including Recent Issuance of Securities Constituting an Exempt Transaction.
	Item 6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation
	2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis
	Results of Operations December 31, 2024 vs December 31, 2023
	General and Administrative Expenses
	Financial Condition (December 31, 2024 vs December 31, 2023)
	Assets
	Liabilities
	Equity
	As of December 31, 2024, total equity amounted to ₱224.50 million, reflecting a 3% increase from the previous year. This growth was mainly attributed to the additional paid-in capital of ₱7.57 million. However, the company continues to carry a deficit...

	LIQUIDITY
	CURRENT RATIO
	SOLVENCY
	PROFITABILITY
	RETURN ON EQUITY
	LEVERAGE
	ASSET TO EQUITY RATIO
	INTEREST RATE COVERAGE RATIO
	As of December 31, 2024
	2024 compared to 2023
	2023 compared to 2022
	Item 7. Financial Statements
	Item 8. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

	EXTERNAL AUDIT FEES AND SERVICES
	PART III – CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION
	Item 9. Directors and Executive Officers of the Issuer

	INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS
	SIGNIFICANT EMPLOYEES
	FAMILY RELATIONSHIPS
	INVOLVEMENT IN CERTAIN LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
	SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
	STANDARD ARRANGEMENTS
	OTHER ARRANGEMENTS
	WARRANTS AND OPTIONS HELD BY THE EXECUTIVES AND DIRECTORS
	SIGNIFICANT EMPLOYEE
	SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN RECORD AND BENEFICIAL OWNERS
	SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT
	VOTING TRUST HOLDERS OF 5.0% OR MORE
	CHANGES IN CONTROL
	The abovementioned Voting Trust Agreement made Dr. Simeon Arce Jr. obtain substantial voting control of 22.13% for three years.
	Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

	PART IV – CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
	Item 13. Corporate Governance
	Part V. EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES

	ASIA PACIFIC MEDICAL CENTER (APMC) – AKLAN INC.
	2024 17-C Submissions

	DECEMBER 2024 AFS (1).pdf
	cf05b468acc296a0bfa99067dc7b5b0cb85817dfb78d2fa325ed5eb3ad025437.pdf
	0f9060e01ca9c99514a96d64adeb17168643a008031f49005e7d32e5e9f34102.pdf
	STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY 2024 SCANNED.pdf
	Document 13 (1).pdf


	0f9060e01ca9c99514a96d64adeb17168643a008031f49005e7d32e5e9f34102.pdf
	0f9060e01ca9c99514a96d64adeb17168643a008031f49005e7d32e5e9f34102.pdf

	1fb1e82e5006f6dd5b169ead3ddcabe0262a89ae5fb9b9147154785817913c07.pdf
	cf05b468acc296a0bfa99067dc7b5b0cb85817dfb78d2fa325ed5eb3ad025437.pdf
	0f9060e01ca9c99514a96d64adeb17168643a008031f49005e7d32e5e9f34102.pdf
	STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY 2024 SCANNED.pdf
	Document 13 (1).pdf


	0f9060e01ca9c99514a96d64adeb17168643a008031f49005e7d32e5e9f34102.pdf
	0f9060e01ca9c99514a96d64adeb17168643a008031f49005e7d32e5e9f34102.pdf

	cf05b468acc296a0bfa99067dc7b5b0cb85817dfb78d2fa325ed5eb3ad025437.pdf
	cf05b468acc296a0bfa99067dc7b5b0cb85817dfb78d2fa325ed5eb3ad025437.pdf




